

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2015

Increasing Productivity of Retained Employees After a Workforce Reduction

Jason Michael Matyus Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Communication Commons, and the Organizational Behavior and Theory Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jason Matyus

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Denise Land, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Gina Smith, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Peter Anthony, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2015

Abstract

Increasing Productivity of Retained Employees After a Workforce Reduction

by

Jason Michael Matyus

MBA, Waynesburg University, 2011
BS, California University of Pennsylvania, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2015

Abstract

There is an increased use of downsizing across telecommunications in the northeast United States, and organizational leaders are challenged to motivate the productivity of the retained employees. Guided by systems theory, the purpose of this single case study was to explore successful downsizing strategies of a small group of organizational leaders and managers in the operations of telecommunications in the northeast United States. The study participants, chosen for their motivation success in motivation after downsizing, consisted of 2 purposefully selected business leaders who completed individual, face-toface interviews and a focus group of 5 managers. The coding of data and word clusters from data obtained from the interviews and focus group led to 4 emergent themes of organizational communication, leadership, employee motivation, and work-life balance. The participant responses showed through topic saturation that communication and worklife balance were the most important major themes. The findings from this study suggest that communication during all phases of downsizing can add to the employees' motivation and employees understanding of what leadership expects from them. When organizational leaders communicate a message of a better work-life balance, positive social change may occur, creating a more productive and loyal employee. When employees have a healthy work-life balance, there are significant benefits to their work organizations, families, and home lives.

Increasing Productivity of Retained Employees After a Workforce Reduction

by

Jason Michael Matyus

MBA, Waynesburg University, 2011
BS, California University of Pennsylvania, 1997

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2015

Dedication

All things are possible through Christ, and this study is an example of his works; without him this study would not be possible. I would like to dedicate this study to my wife, Crystal, and my two daughters, Catherine and Elizabeth. Without their steady support, none of this would be possible. I would also like to thank my parents, Joe and JoAnn Matyus, for encouraging me through my life that education is the way to advance and give back. To my mother and father-in-law, Judy and Terry Reckart, thank you for encouraging me and supporting me in this long journal. Special thanks go to my brother and sister for their honesty and feedback; I am truly blessed to have a family filled with love and support. I am also grateful to my grandparents for showing me how to live my life by their examples. I hope this study is an example to my daughters that with hard work and follow-through, anything can be accomplished if you put your mind to it and that nobody can make you feel inferior without your permission.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Denise Land, my chair, for your willingness to answer all my phone calls, emails, and questions and your willingness to guide me through my journey. It was your skill and guidance that made my journey possible. You kept me on track and walked with me through it all. Thank you. Additionally, I would like to acknowledge Dr. Gina Smith, my SCM, for your guidance and expertise in guiding me through the process. I would like to acknowledge Dr. Peter Anthony, my URR, for your wisdom and guidance throughout this process. Acknowledgements also go to Dr. Freda Turner for her tiredless efforts to improve the program and make it highly respected. Finally, this process is a journey, and there are some colleagues and fellow students I would like to acknowledge. Dr. Bill Hamersly, Will Williams, Toyin Akindoju, Diane Merla, and Hector-J. Roman-Arroyo: You may never know how your struggles along with mine inspired me to continue on my path. Thank you and may God bless you on your future journeys.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	4
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	6
Conceptual Framework	7
Operational Definitions	8
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
Assumptions	9
Limitations	9
Delimitations	10
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	12
Literature Review Methods	13
Organization Systems	16
Employee Downsizing	19

	Leadership's Role	26
	Leadership's Role in Downsizing	29
	Organizational Communication	30
	Employee Motivation	33
	Organizational Knowledge	34
	Transition	40
Se	ction 2: The Project	42
	Purpose Statement	42
	Role of the Researcher	43
	Participants	45
	Research Method and Design	48
	Research Method	49
	Research Design	51
	Population and Sampling	54
	Sample Size	55
	Sample Criteria	57
	Ethical Research.	57
	Data Collection Instruments	59
	Instrument	59
	Data Collection Technique	63
	Data Organization Technique	64
	Data Analysis	65

Reliability and Validity	69
Reliability	69
Validity	71
Transition and Summary	73
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	74
Introduction	74
Presentation of the Findings	74
Theme 1: Organizational Communication	75
Theme 2: Leadership	79
Theme 3: Employee Motivation	83
Business Systems	90
Applications to Professional Practice	91
Implications for Social Change	92
Recommendations for Action	93
Recommendations for Further Research	94
Reflections	95
Summary and Study Conclusions	95
References	97
Appendix A: Interview Protocol for Business Leaders	135
Appendix B: Interview Protocol for Managers	137
Appendix C: Consent Form for Business Leaders	139
Appendix D: Organizational Consent Form for Focus Group	1/11

Appendix E: Organizat	tional Letter of Cooperation	143

List of Tables

Table 1. Literature Review Sources	15
Table 2. Occurrences of Negative and Positive Communication	79
Table 3. Views on Leadership by Focus Group	82
Table 4. Motivating Factors for Productivity within the Focus Group	85
Table 5. Views on Work-Life Balance From Business leaders and Focus Group	89

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders downsize their employees to escape financial distress, stay competitive, or fend off external threats faced by their organization (Luan, Tien, & Chi, 2013). Financial considerations that are the main factors in leadership's decision to downsizing decisions (Cashen, 2011). However, downsizing events have high failure rates, leading some scholars to shift from studying financial viewpoints to studying leadership and human behaviors of employees (Flint, Maher, & Wielemaker, 2012; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Malik, Hussain, and Mhamood's (2011) study on downsizing found that, increasing productivity per employee was the driving force of downsizing outcomes, but employee productivity is low after an organizational changes such as downsizing. Malik and Usman (2011) identified relationships between work overload and job satisfaction, and between overwork with job retention. Leadership is the key to motivating employees to be productive after a downsizing event (Nastase, Giuclea, & Bold, 2012). The objective of this study was to explore strategies business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction.

Background of the Problem

Past researchers examinging downsizing have analyzed the steps in the process to determine what differentiates a successful downsizing event from an unsuccessful one (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012; Kawai, 2011; Luan et al., 2013). Employees play a role in the success of downsizing by exhibiting organizational commitment, yet leaders within telecommunication organizations frequently do not have effective strategies to motivate employees after downsizing (Shin, Taylor, & Seo, 2012). Leaders gain a better

understanding of employee well-being and production by considering their welfare, which assists the leader in gaining a better understanding as it relates to job satisfaction (Albrecht, 2012).

Leadership's goal is to find out what makes employees productive. Successful employee job performance is related to how they feel about doing their job (Robertson, Alex, & Cooper, 2012). Iverson and Zatzick's (2011) study was one of first to focus on quantifying the results of employee performance, but not on what makes the employees productive. Business leaders can examine the level of employee productivity after downsizing, relying on different data sources, and from the analysis develop strategies that lead organizations to positive outcomes (Tsai & Shih, 2013). Research on downsizing from the perspectives of organizational leaders has generated findings of both positive and negative outcomes (Magán-Díaz & Céspedes-Lorente, 2012; Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011). Leaders who gain a better understanding of their employees and their job satisfaction are better able to consider employee well-being and productivity (Albrecht, 2012). I focused on the effects of downsizing on the employees as it plays a bigger role in overall organizational success.

Problem Statement

Despite the general use of downsizing by organization leadership in telecommunication, downsizing produces the desired outcome organizational leadership hopes for when implementing downsizing events (Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011). Employee productivity in the majority of downsized firms does not achieve improved levels of efficiency, effectiveness, productivity, and profitability after a

downsizing event (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). Despite literature showing that downsizing is not generally successful (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011; Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011), organizational leaders in the United States continue to employ downsizing, with 243 mass layoff events occurring in the utility field in 2013 (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor and Statistics, 2014). The general business problem is diminished employee productivity after a workforce reduction. The specific business problem is that some business leaders lack strategies to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction. I elected to study a single phenomenon from multiple sources of data to create a deeper understanding of the phenomenon, as suggested by Yin (2014). I used a case study approach because this allowed a researcher to study an event in depth and from multiple perspectives (Thomas, 2011). The primary sources of data collection were semistructured interviews of business leaders and a focus group of five managers who survived a downsizing event within a telecommunications company located in the eastern United States.

This study was designed to generate results to inform business leaders who were considering downsizing their personnel. A change in workforce such as in downsizing creates a lack of balance in employee's personal life leading to a lack of productivity (Gregory, Milner, & Windebank, 2013). Business leaders who do not correctly anticipate

jeopardizing successful organizational outcomes risk losing employees. Improving employee productivity will generate positive social change by facilitating greater organizational success. Ultimately, this study is designed to generate information that can be used for applications that result in a better work-life balance for employees and save organizations from the negative outcomes of employee turnover, thereby resulting in better organizational knowledge retention and performance.

Nature of the Study

A researcher applying a quantitative method relies on the knowledge and understanding of how to build constructs and accurately analyze statistical data (Stafford, 2011; Wester et al., 2013). I considered and rejected a quantitative methodology for this study. Quantitative method encompasses established variables and constructs, but the unknown outcomes of a qualitative method are better suited to study the process of downsizing (Echambadi, Campbell, & Agarwal, 2012). The results garnered from qualitative methods provide can provide insight into organizational practices (Yin, 2014). This study was designed to collect managers' and business leaders' perspectives, which McMullen and Adobor (2011) identified as best serving the study of strategies that motivate employees to be productive. The concept of production following downsizing from a business leader and manager perspective reveals itself through their experiences (Hanson, Balmer, & Giardino, 2011). Allwood (2012) stated that the apex of deciding whether to use a qualitative research method is the study of a phenomenon. For this reason, I used a qualitative method to study the phenomenon of effective strategies business leaders can use to motivate employees toward productivity.

I considered and rejected using several alternative designs for this study. In a narrative design, there is a risk of subjectivity in the storytelling of chronological events (Hansen, 2011); since I wanted to minimize subjectivity, I did not use a narrative design for this study. The smaller sample size and the use of multiple sources of data for this study excluded phenomenological design as an option. Ethnography is an anthropology approach to studying cultural design (Bernard, 2013). Although employee diversity may be part of the business culture (Stout, 2012), the focus of this study is on best strategies for the productivity of retained employees, so I rejected a ethnographic.

A case study allows for the investigation of the incident by reliance on accounts of the experiences of participants, captured through interviews and in-depth exploration of the incident through multiple sources (Yin, 2014). Parts of other designs make up case studies, and the use of diverse instruments allows the interviewer to reach data saturation with a larger sample group (Thomas, 2011). Because of the larger sample group and the use of multiple sources to study a single topic, a single case study was the best design to use for this study.

Research Question

The overarching research question for this study was: "What strategies do business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction?" Employee performance after a workforce contributes significantly to organizational success or failure (Ko & Yeh, 2013). Keeping good employees who can make an organization thrive after a workforce reduction is essential (Baruah & Barthakur, 2012). Business leaders take steps within their organizations to retain good employees by

recruiting better managers, creating job incentives, and offering different social outlets before and after a workforce reduction (Ratna & Chawla, 2012). Business leaders are also looking for ways to improve and enhance employee productivity before and after a workforce reduction (Jabar et al., 2011). One way business leaders look to enhance employee productivity is through employee empowerment (Zahrani, 2011).

Interview Questions

This study designed used interview questions as one of the data collection instruments. The focus of these questions was identifying the strategies business leaders use to improve productivity of employees after a workforce reduction. The interview questions were part of a semistructured interview process designed to allow openness and reflection on the part of the participants as suggested by Qu and Dumay (2011). Interview questions helped to obtain the experiences and insights of the business leaders. I posed seven open-ended questions and prompts to participating business leaders:

- 1. What were your experiences with downsizing relating to how your organization executed the process?
- 2. What type of communication did your organization use after the downsizing event?
- 3. How did your job functions change after the workforce reduction?
- 4. What was your work environment like as it relates to asking managers to do more work, stay later, and assuming varying roles after the downsizing event?
- 5. From your experience, please describe some activities you believe made managers more productive after a workforce reduction?

- 6. Post downsizing event, how did you see your employees' job changing at work?
- 7. Please share anything else you would like to add to the discussion that I have not asked.

I posed five open-ended questions and prompts to the managers in the focus group:

- 1. What were your experiences with downsizing relating to how your organization executed the process?
- 2. What type of communication occurred between yourself and the business leader over your organization?
- 3. How did you decide job functions for the employees that reported to you after the workforce reduction?
- 4. What was your work environment like as it relates to doing more work, staying later, and assuming varying roles after the downsizing event?
- Please share anything else you would like to add to the discussion that I have not asked.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework that I used was systems theory as it evolved from the natural sciences to business (Senge, 1990). Johnson, Kast, and Rosenzweig (1964) adapted systems theory from a scientific framework to one that a business can emulate to be successful. Von Bertalanffy (1972) showed independent parts working as a whole is more valuable than the parts independent of each other. Systems theory defines business organizations in a three-layer structure as systems, program decision process, and

nonprogram decision process (Johnson et al., 1964). Within those structures, business leaders work to have those systems working independently, but toward the organizational goal (Hotho, 2014). Much like the description of systems theory, business leaders layer organizations within structures requiring leadership to work in conjunction with each group of the organization (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011).

During downsizing, leadership oversees those groups within the overall structure of positive results (Guo & Giacobbe-Miller, 2012). According to the systems theory framework, in an organization multiple systems work toward a larger system goal. A focus of this study was to explore the strategies business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction. Human resources, leadership, employees, and all other subgroups comprise an organization; the success of the organization is dependent on all the parts working together (Yawson, 2013).

Operational Definitions

The following terms are specific to the understanding of the study.

Downsizing: A defined downsizing as a change in internal operations of organizations that leads to a reduction in employees (Sitlington and Marshall, 2011).

Lean managing: A strategy used by organizational leaders, under the advisement of human resources groups, to reduce waste in the form of a reduction in headcount and unused work (Basu & Parveen, 2012).

Long-term: A duration equal to a year or years to denote an interval of time (Scott, Ueng, Ramaswamy, & Chang, 2011).

Short-term: Short-term is a duration equal to months to denote an interval of time

(Iqbal & Haque, 2011).

Survivors: In the context of downsizing, an employee remaining after a downsizing event (Malik et al., 2011).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

A researcher's observations or direct experience with a case study is essential to bring the experience in the research with the researcher (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). The following assumptions helped ensure an understanding of the possible implications for the participants and me. One assumption was that the participants would be able to articulate their experiences of the downsizing in a truthful and honest manner that best describes their experiences. Another assumption of the study was that I was able to gather, analyze, and understand the responses of the participants that pertained to the study. From those responses, a third assumption was that I had the ability to categorize the responses into patterns and themes. A participant's availability is not a guarantee; for this reason, I established contingency plans for a conflict in schedules, data collection, and analysis.

Limitations

My use of a qualitative method, created specific limitations to the study's transferability, and related to its use of a sample size, single source researcher, and design type (Marshall & Rossman, 2011). Although I recognized these limitations, I set out to achieve the highest level of understanding possibly within the population studied. Due to the limited geographic locations and company size, the results of the study are not

transferable to a larger general population; only two business leaders and five participants made up the focus group. The limited number of participants limited the data received by the smaller sample group as noted by Petty, Thomson, and Stew (2012). The data gathered from the interviews and focus group were, however sufficient, to triangulate themes. The final limitation was the use of a single researcher (myself) to collect the data, which limited the depth of the data collected.

Delimitations

The primary intent of this study was to examine productivity behavior in telecommunication companies within a geographic region, as suggested by Podsakoff, MacKenzie, and Podsakoff (2012). The sample for the study included business leaders of an organization in the telecommunications industry in the eastern United States. The sample included two business leaders and five managers. Multiple case studies are common in the social sciences, but researchers can use a single case study to study the downsizing event (Yin, 2014). Using interviews and focus groups as the sole instruments excluded other useful tools for data collection (Stewart, Shamdasani, & Rook, 2007). For this reason, I used as many participants as needed to reach data saturation.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Downsizing is still a popular change management option among the leaders of U.S. companies that are struggling financially, but many organizational leaders who implement downsizing do not see the predicted positive outcomes result (Luan et al., 2013). This study is a value to organizational leaders trying to determine how to motivate

employees after a downsizing event. The reviewed literature covers (a) the history of downsizing and the effects on stakeholders; (b) the study of leadership styles and effectiveness of leader styles on employees; (c) organizational knowledge, retention, transfer, and the ways they can affect organizational outcomes; (d) organization systems; and (e) employee motivation. I integrated the three themes from the literature to show how all three play a part in the overall success or failure of a downsizing event.

Implications for Social Change

The goal of lean management is to reduce waste from within an organization by reducing unnecessary staff and work within organizations (Basu & Parveen, 2012). However, eliminating staff requires downsizing that causes stressful and unproductive employees (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011; Karkoulian, Mukaddam, McCarthy, & Messara, 2013). One method of combatting these negative factors is maintaining manager awareness of employee well-being, which increases the productivity of employees by appealing to their needs (Malik et al., 2011). The expansion of leadership knowledge in employee productivity strategies can lead to a better work–life balance that enriches employees' experiences with their families, coworkers, and society. When an employee perceives layoffs from a strategic standpoint of sustaining organizational knowledge and not from a cost-cutting point of view, the employee is more willing to accept change and is more productive (Zatzick & Iverson, 2006). Employee stress caused by downsizing leads to unproductive employees within organizations; therefore, the goal of business leaders is to maximize employee retention to reduce employee turnover and eliminate unwanted costs associated with employee turnover (Ratna & Chawla, 2012).

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction. Reasons for downsizing include a reduction in costs, competition from competitors, poor management, and failure to keep up with changing technology (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). Downsizing affects stakeholders, including employees, leadership, and shareholders (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Effective downsizing requires observation by leadership in every phase of the process in order to be successful.(Flint et al., 2012; Gandolfi & Littler, 2012).

The central research question was as follows: What are the best strategies business leaders can use to motivate employees to be productive following a workforce reduction? A scholarly understanding of the aspects of downsizing events includes the purpose of downsizing, leadership, employee productivity, and motivation (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). The researched events incorporated relate to the components in the downsizing event (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012). The primary themes and topics examined in this literature review are: (a) employee downsizing, (b) leadership's role, (c) downsizing leadership, (d) organizational communication, (e) employee motivation, and (f) organizational knowledge. The literature includes peer-reviewed articles and books and consists of components of downsizing that have roles in the effectiveness of the process. The topics put together include the literature encompassing downsizing either directly or indirectly. Within the literature review, I discussed topics related to downsizing gathered from literature obtained from Business SourceComplete, IBM INFORM, Sage Premier,

Emerald, and ProQuest Central database with the following key words: *change* management, downsizing, leadership, organizational knowledge, and employee satisfaction. Table 1 contains a summary of documents reviewed.

Table 1

Literature Review Sources

Source	Sources 2011 and later	Sources prior to 2011
Seminal Sources	0	2
Dissertations	1	0
Peer-reviewed articles	128	7
Total	129	7
Percentage of total	100%	7%

The following literature review consisted of contemporary peer-reviewed research studies concerning systems theory. In addition, the literature review included peer-reviewed studies that addressed limitations, weaknesses, and potential for future research in each category. Other sources included statistical reports and scholarly books. The Walden University library databases were the primary resource to obtain the sources and search standards included for articles that were full-text, scholarly, and peer-reviewed. Keywords in the search criteria included downsizing, leadership, organizational knowledge, productivity, organizational knowledge, and systems theory. The emphasis was on peer-reviewed studies that were less than five years old at the time of publication.

Literature Review Methods

Systems theory is the theory underpinning this study. All parts of a system work internally with each part of a larger system (Montuori, 2013). The process of downsizing has many parts that have to work together to make it successful (Sanda, 2011). When a

downsizing event occurs, groups within an organization must work to their optimal levels of productivity with the goal being the overall success of the larger group (Johnson et al., 1964).

Systems theory as described by Johnson et al. (1964) defines the business organization in a three-layer structure consisting of leadership at the top, communication within groups, and operations of all groups. Von Bertalanffy (1972) described systems in three broad categories consisting of (1) system science, (2) system technology, and (3) system philosophy. Researchers can apply Von Bertalanffy's (1972) three criteria for studying and labeling a system as well as Johnson et al.'s (1964) three-layer structure to business. Business leaders operate organizations using multiple groups, and the success of the overall organization relies on leadership's ability to communicate with the multiple groups (Kihlström, 2012). Within those structures, management strives to have those systems working independently but towards the organizational goal (Witt & Redding, 2013). Business leaders can use organizational structural norms to transfer knowledge, communicate, and ultimately use the best of each part of the organization towards success (Diez-Roux, 2011).

Much like the description of systems theory, business leaders layer organizations within structures requiring leadership to work in conjunction with each group (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011; Siggelkow, 2011). During downsizing, leadership oversees those groups within the overall structure geared toward positive results (Guo & Giacobbe-Miller, 2012). I applied the systems theory framework of multiple systems working to the goal of the larger system of the best strategies business leaders use after downsizing

events. Systems have boundaries and knowledge by business leaders of where the boundaries are for each part of the systems helps for the transfer of knowledge making the organization successful (Asheim, Smith, & Oughton, 2011). Business leaders can use the knowledge of groups within the systems, and the entire system benefits from the knowledge transferred (Korn, 2011).

Organizations operate in an open system where outside variables can affect the overall outcome of the organization (Mainardes, Alves, & Raposo, 2011). While researchers have explored the use of systems theory in other industries without success, research on business practices can lend itself useful in an open system (Korn, 2012). On a larger scale, Witt and Redding (2013) showed how larger systems such as countries work within a region and how outside variables can affect the system as a whole. Working within the systems allows business leaders to use feedback from each group to improve the whole system (Leveson, 2011). Also, the application of leadership types, such as transformational and transactional leadership styles, tends to motivate leaders to innovate (Vaccaro, Jansen, Van Den Bosch, & Volberda, 2012). The structure of an organizational system can determine the success of the overall system (Claver-Cortés, Pertusa-Ortega, & Molina-Azorín, 2012; Csaszar, 2012). It is important in a system for all the groups to work toward the positive value of the entire organization (Kaine & Cowan, 2011; Yawson, 2013).

Organizational leaders have been downsizing since the early 1980s, yet research indicating scholars' understanding of the causes and outcomes of downsizing events is lacking (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). Business leaders can better understand downsizing

by looking at the phases of downsizing (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012). The three phases of downsizing are *practice*, or the level of employee cuts; *discourse*, or language executives use about downsizing; and *strategizing*, that refers to how well leadership executes the downsizing (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012).

Organization Systems

An organization's leadership is one of the smaller groups that make up the whole (Hannah, Walumba, & Fry, 2011). The goal of this study was to understand what strategies business leaders can use to motivate employees to be productive following a downsizing event, with leadership being the central agent of productivity (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011). There is a significant value in understanding what leadership theory best motivates employees to understand effective leadership (Burns, 1978; O'Toole, 1996; Schneider & George, 2011; Tonkin, 2013). While there are other components of downsizing that focus on a positive outcome, leadership is the motivator and executioner of any plan of change (Warrick, 2011).

Employees represent a critical group within the larger group of an organization (Wells & Peachey, 2011). At a time of uncertainty like downsizing, employees need to understand what leadership expects of them and the goals of the organization (McClellan, 2011). Ideally, the leader is a driving force behind change; through trust and stimulating intellect, leaders enable employees to be productive in positive ways (Chaudhry, Javed, & Sabir, 2012).

One of the goals tasked to leadership during a downsizing event is to capture and retain knowledge (von Krogh, Nonaka, & Rechsteiner, 2012). Leaders' concerns are with

not only retaining employees after downsizing but retaining their knowledge and using knowledge sharing to maintain organizational performance (Tsirikas, Katsaros, & Nicolaidis, 2012). When there are disruptions within organizations, knowledge retention can be low causing poor performance outcomes (Mahmoudsalehi, Moradkhannejad, & Safari, 2012). Leaders can lead employees, human resource, and the leaders themselves involved in organizational success to the organization's desired goals (Warrick, 2011).

Systems theory, as described by Johnson et al. (1964), fits telecommunications organizations in a three-layer structure consisting of leadership at the top, communication within groups, and operations of all groups. Within those structures, management works to have those systems working independently, but towards the organizational goal. Much like the description of systems theory, business leaders layer organizations within structures requiring leadership to work in conjunction with each group (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011). During downsizing, leadership oversees those groups within the overall structure of positive results (Guo, & Giacobbe-Miller, 2012). Within the systems theory framework of multiple systems working to a larger system goal, there will be a focus on the strategies business leaders use after a downsizing event in this study.

The way the employees perceive a downsizing event is as important as the way a company benefits from a downsizing event (Marques, Galende, Cruz, & Ferreira, 2014). Downsizing can have a negative effect on high-performance groups (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Organizations whose leaders show more attention to employees' well-being show greater levels of success (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). The positive and negative outcomes of downsizing affect employees and companies through financial performance and

retention (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011; Gandolfi & Littler, 2012; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Leadership tends to focus on events after downsizing; but throughout the process, leaders prepare to enact a downsizing event successfully (Taborga, 2012). When disruption occurs in the normal routine of an organization, such as in a downsizing event, leadership must ensure the process is successful (Coldwell, Joosub, & Papageorgiou, 2012). Leadership should adapt to a changing environment; however, organizational leaders find it difficult to develop leaders who can handle a downsizing event (Taborga, 2012).

A useful way of describing the separate types of leadership styles employed is dividing them into transformational and transactional leadership styles are suitable for describing leadership (Burns, 1978). Transformational leaders consider the greater needs of their followers to make the followers better, whereas transactional leaders work in a trade-off with followers (Burns, 1978). Transformational leadership style often adds to organizational knowledge and stability through appealing to employees' higher needs (Noruzy, Dalfard, Azhdari, Nazari-Shirkouhi, & Rezazadeh, 2013). A third division, servant leadership, closely resembles transformational leadership but further focuses on empowerment (Schneider & George, 2011). The outcome of leadership types is important because employees who find satisfaction with their leaders are less likely to leave their organization (Wells & Peachey, 2011).

It is important to have leaders who can move organizations successfully through a downsizing event (Coldwell et al., 2012; Taborga, 2012). In a time of change for an organization, employees are more likely to feel detached and unproductive because of the

changes (Shin et al., 2012). Employee production is low after a downsizing event because of employees' lack of trust in the organization, lack of communication, and lack of vision for their future (Karkoulian et al., 2013; Kawai, 2011; Malik et al., 2011). Employee satisfaction, which is positively associated with increased performance, is linked with leadership and motivation (Baruah & Barthakur, 2012). Many decisions go into preparing workforce reductions and sometimes the planners do not consider human capital and intellectual capitalizations (Flint et al., 2012). Leaders must identify changes that affect employees and their ability to do their work and find ways to implement the change to get the most from the employees (Shin et al., 2012).

Employee Downsizing

One of the main issues facing organizational leaders is which employees to layoff and how to layoff (Flint et al., 2012). One study that consisted of participants who selected five employees out of 25 to layoff took place in a closed environment (Dwyer & Arbelo, 2012). The findings revealed targeted groups such as minorities and senior employees lose their jobs during times of downsizing, which endangers the ability to retain organizational knowledge within an organization (Dwyer & Arbelo, 2012).

As many as 50% of all organizational changes have failed to deliver expected results from downsizing, and researchers have considered only one-third of organizational changes to be successful (Shin et al., 2012). In times of economic crisis, the leaders of many organizations engage in downsizing to survive, but downsizing is not always the correct strategy (Luan et al., 2013). The failure rates of the calculated change initiatives, defined as organizational leaders not reaching their desired results, might not

be as high as organizational leaders estimate (Hughes, 2011). The 70% failure rate derived from the answers to questions asking whether a downsizing was a failure or success is ambiguous (Hughes, 2011). Even with the claims of high rates of failure, organizational leaders continue to downsize (Kawai, 2011; Kemal & Shahid, 2012).

The trend of downsizing by corporations, which started in the early 1980s, is not a new phenomenon, but the effects of downsizing on workforces continue to be a topic of research (van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). Many executives and researchers in business once considered downsizing to be nonexistent because of the negative connotation associated with the word, but empirical research indicated otherwise (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012). Stakeholders and the public view downsizing negatively, so new terms such as *rightsizing*, *dehiring*, *derecruiting*, and *involuntary separation* all emerged as alternatives to the word downsizing (Mirabela, 2011).

Organizational leaders generally used a three-stage downsizing process between the mid-1970s and 2012; the process of downsizing continued after 2012, but with different terminology (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012). Organizational leaders often downsize for a variety of reasons, but most often to improve financial performance (Tsai & Shih, 2013). A quantitative study of Spanish manufacturing firms showed through downsizing data no change in the productivity for firms that had a downsizing event compared to those that did not have one (Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011). Muñoz-Bullón and Sánchez-Bueno's (2011) findings revealed no added benefits to company financials or productivity because of downsizing, which is especially significant because Spain has employee-friendly legislation that makes it difficult for organizational leaders to react to

market conditions through downsizing (Pasamar & Cabrera, 2013). Companies forced to downsize had a negative image because it was a signal to employees and the public that the company was in financial trouble (Hajkrová & Pálka, 2011; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Organizational leaders might look closely at the cost and strain of downsizing on different work groups within their organization (Boniface & Rashmi, 2012). From an employee's viewpoint, a shift in job duties leads from downsizing to less organizational knowledge and fear of the next job cut therefore, leadership should be aware of employees' viewpoint (Chipunza & Sameul, 2013; Nastase et al., 2012).

Alternative downsizing methods may help to improve companies' financial positions by doing more than downsizing across organizations (Bragger, Kutcher, Menier, Sessa, & Sumner, 2013). Two concepts exist that organizational leaders often overlook but can implement to improve companies' bottom line (Braun & Latham, 2012). Organizational leaders view downsizing from only a cost-saving aspect, yet they can use alternative methods developed through observation and literature in the form of retrenchment (layoffs) and repositioning (innovating) to save capital (Braun & Latham, 2012). When downsizing involves balance, organizational leaders can use resources to make downsizing events more successful (Norman, Butler, & Ranft, 2012). Downsizing is not going away, but the connotation associated with it makes it difficult to improve the process (Phelps, 2013).

Some of the factors of downsizing such as niche technology, cost reducing efforts, failure to adapt to changing technology, and insufficient management skills leaders have attributed to the reasons for downsizing (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). No researchers

have conclusively shown why downsizing events fail or succeed, yet organizational leaders continue to enact downsizing (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012). The reasons for downsizing vary and ease of downsizing differs depending on location and industry (Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2014). When approaching downsizing, organizational leaders should consider (a) human resources, (b) survivors and not only victims, (c) a long-term plan, (d) communication, and (e) leadership (Gandolfi, 2013). The results of a comprehensive survey design to explore downsizing to determine processes and outcomes of downsizing events revealed the multilayered processes organizational leaders go through during a downsizing event (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). External factors that can lead to the need for a downsizing event include competition, market conditions, or the landscape of how an organization operates; internal factors include the ways the management team runs the organization and spends money (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). Training and employee development are effective tools for the success of downsizing (Razzaq, Ayub, Arzu, & Aslam, 2013).

The intended result for a company undergoing downsizing is that it will emerge more competitive and successful than before the downsizing (Luan et al., 2013). In a quantitative study with statistical analysis to show a correlation between job insecurity and powerlessness, employees who believed in a lack of job security had a negative view of their organization, which led to poor performance (Karkoulian et al., 2013). The findings from Karkoulian et al.'s (2013) study on employees' feelings were similar to the findings from Gandolfi and Hansson's (2011) research on the varying levels involved in a downsizing event. Employees are a factor in downsizing that affects the

overall outcome of a downsizing event (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011; Karkoulian et al., 2013). Employees who undergo and survive downsizing tend to have lower productivity because of a lack of trust in management (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011; Karkoulian et al., 2013; Kawai, 2011; Ko & Yeh, 2013).

Survivors of downsizing exhibit psychological factors that include stress, anxiety, and fear (Modrek & Cullen, 2013). Employees affected by change will lead an organization through downsizing events (Van Dierendonck & Jacobs, 2012). Workforce downsizing has the potential to affect employee production negatively and management needs to understand the effects on employee production (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011).

The loss of productivity in employees after a workforce reduction can involve two factors: overwork and work–life balance (Rehman & Muhammad, 2012; Waraich & Bhardwaj, 2012). A cross-sectional study of layoff survivors that included questionnaires revealed a strong relationship between overload and work–life balance and a negative work–life balance and production (Malik et al., 2011). Results of the correlation between work overload and work–life balance were conclusive in determining the need for strategies to maintain balance (Malik et al., 2011). Organizational leaders need to recognize and understand what employees are going through and consider those factors when downsizing (Puleo, 2011).

The goal of a study with a sample of organizations with 20 or more employees from Dun and Bradstreet's Canadian database was to determine if considering employees' health and welfare while downsizing would increase the employees' productivity (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Companies whose leaders did not address

employees' morale and health showed lower employee productivity (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). As an essential component of downsizing, employees sometimes resist change, even when the change benefits the organization, because employees view change as a destructive force, which creates a negative return on equity and return on assets (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011; Kawai, 2011; Smollan, 2011).

Organizational leaders measure the success or failure of a downsizing event by failure in the planning stage, in the implementation stage, and after downsizing differently (Day, Armenakis, Feild, & Norris, 2012). Researchers have studied the shortterm benefits and the long-term benefits to determine the value in downsizing (Iqbal & Haque, 2011; Scott et al., 2011). Researching the effects of short-term benefits for organizations due to downsizing involved collecting data pertaining to downsizing from the U.S. Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics, as well as data from the Industrial and Capacity Utilization reports of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System to determine production numbers for the same period (Iqbal & Haque, 2011). The findings revealed a strong negative correlation did not exist between shortterm gains associated with downsizing, but certain areas of production showed a negative affect (Iqbal & Haque, 2011). One of the limitations of the research was a lack of financial reports, although Iqbal and Haque (2011) indicated they did not want to use financial reports for a short-term study; instead, they wanted to focus on the production output.

Research on the outcomes of downsizing that involved a different approach than Iqbal and Haque's (2011) study of short-term benefits included an exploration into how

downsizing affected long-term success based on an organization's stock price at the time of the announcement (Scott et al., 2011). Using data from 1990 to 1992 from companies that were part of the S&P 500 helped to avoid survival bias that could exist in short-term market conditions (Scott et al., 2011). The effect on organizations' stock prices at the time of layoff announcements was negative (Scott et al., 2011). One limitation of the study was that daily returns might not have been a reliable indicator for interpreting long-term events (Scott et al., 2011).

Financials are not the only means to determine the long-term viability of a downsizing event (Flint et al., 2012; Gong & Greenwood, 2012). A study on the long-term effects of reorganization and downsizing of small entrepreneurial organizations in Finland included a structural equation model applied to survey data to determine organizational results (Laitinen, 2011). Reorganization in the study applied to both business decisions and financial decisions; the data came from organizations that participated in the Finnish Company Reorganization Act (Laitinen, 2011). The findings indicated organizational change alone could not contribute to the long-term success of small entrepreneurial organizations and organizations need controls to ensure success (Laitinen, 2011). The results resembled Braun and Latham's (2012) study on retrenching and repositioning that required more than one action in a downsizing event for success.

Casualties to downsizing events other than employees, organizational productivity, and organizational financials include customers (Homburg, Klarmann, & Staritz, 2012). Short-term results (Iqbal & Haque, 2011) and long-term effects (Scott et al., 2011) of downsizing are only two aspects of measuring downsizing success or failure.

The primary purpose of downsizing by business leaders is for the reduction in cost, not always organizational change (Gandolfi & Hansson, 2011). Organizational leaders are the center of organizations and must set the vision and direction for organizations during a downsizing event (Birasnav, Rangnekar, & Dalpati, 2011). Employee performance declines following a downsizing event because of the decrease in employee morale, which increases the likelihood that those employees will leave due to a negative work environment (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Karkoulian et al., 2013). Organizational leaders must ensure employee morale and retention remain positive (Collinson, 2012).

Leadership's Role

Employees are the mechanism that drives progress within organizations; leaders are the influence on the employees (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bhat, Verma, Rangnekar, & Barua, 2012; Kool & van Dierendonck, 2012; O'Toole, 1996). Top executives seek leaders who can adapt to change quickly, but researchers found only a 55% success rate in developing successful leaders (Taborga, 2012). Leadership qualities, particularly behavioral qualities of leaders, can be determinants of positive or negative turnover (Wells & Peachey, 2011). Two types of leaders defined by opposite characteristics are transactional and transformational leaders (Burns, 1978). Transactional leaders approach leadership in a trade-off scenario, whereas transformational leaders attempt to engage followers and satisfy their needs (Burns, 1978).

Managers strive to be transformational leaders but researchers have shown transactional leadership is effective (Abdul & Javed, 2012; Bhat et al., 2012; Chaudhry et al., 2012). Bhat et al. (2012) completed a study of executives in an Indian manufacturing

group with a desire to show individualism and rewards systems contributed to the practice of transactional leadership. Positive correlation can exist in overall organizational knowledge with the use of transactional leadership (Bhat et al., 2012).

Large amounts of literature exist on transformational leadership; however, not many leaders know how to be a transformational leader (Warrick, 2011). Brown and May's (2012) study on the use of transformational leadership training over the course of one year showed increased productivity on an organizational scale was a result of transformational leadership training. The intent of the study was to determine if transformational leadership styles worked better than reward systems commonly attributed to transactional leadership. The findings showed organizational success increased through transformational leadership with the introduction of a reward system (Brown & May, 2012). Transformational leadership styles can be effective on an organizational scale by enhancing the trust with followers that leads to greater productivity (Braun, Peus, Weisweiler, & Frey, 2013).

For transformational leaders to inspire groups of people and not just individuals to achieve their best, a transformational leader must show the followers their efforts are beneficial to others (Grant, 2012). Although transformational leadership inspires both individual and group followers to do their best, followers can begin to rely on transformational leaders for guidance (Eisenbeiß & Boerner, 2013). Despite a breakdown between individuals and group followers, a positive relationship can exist between transformational leadership, job satisfaction, and performance; a strong correlation can exist between trust and employee performance (Braun et al., 2013).

Burns (1978) defined transformational and transactional as two behavioral leadership styles effective in leading organizational success. Organizational leaders can use a Multifactor Leadership Questionnaire to show how transformational leadership works at all organizational levels whereas transactional is only effective at lower levels of organizations (Edwards & Gill, 2012). Transformational leaders inspire and energize creativity among employees and when leaders inspire employees, the leaders sustain goals (Cheung & Wong, 2011).

Transformational leadership and certain qualities of transactional leadership are not the only effective measures of leadership (Schneider & George, 2011; Tonkin, 2013). Authentic leadership is a leadership style that influences, motivates, and empowers followers (Nichols & Erakovich, 2013). A close relationship exists between authentic leadership and transformational leadership (Tonkin, 2013). Authentic leadership is a mixture of ethical leadership and transformational leadership that arose after the ethical crises of the early 2000s that followed the Enron scandal (Tonkin, 2013). Change can serve to disillusion employees and authentic leadership introduces ethics and morals to the characteristics of transformational leadership (Tonkin, 2013).

Servant leadership is a style of leadership well studied by scholars on the subject of change management (van Dierendonck & Nuijten, 2011). Servant leadership shows a high correlation with motivated employees leading to positive organizational progress (van Dierendonck & Nuijten, 2011). The focus of servant leadership is on communicating what leadership needs from the employee, and in turn, the employee moves in the positive direction of the change (Kool & van Dierendonck, 2012). The eight

characteristics of servant leadership defined by van Dierendonck and Nuijten (2011) are empowerment, accountability, standing back, humility, authenticity, courage, interpersonal acceptance, and stewardship. Kool and van Dierendonck's (2012) six characteristics of servant leadership are empowering and developing employees, humility, authenticity, interpersonal acceptance, providing direction, and stewardship. Either group of characteristics reflects an outward flow from the leader (Kool & van Dierendonck, 2012; van Dierendonck &Nuijten, 2011). Servant leadership can be effective when transitioning during times of change and downsizing (Kool & van Dierendonck, 2012).

Leadership's Role in Downsizing

Downsizing can have a negative effect on workforce production and organizational performance (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Ko & Yeh, 2013; Luan et al., 2013). Organizational changes such as downsizing can have long-term effects on organizational performance; however, sustainable leadership can help guide organizations through those times (Avery & Bergsteiner, 2011). Leadership that gives attention to the human side of downsizing through compassion for human capital tends to be more successful in times of disruption such as during downsizing (Cameron, 2011b).

Servant leadership can lead to positive outcomes in employee productivity during times of organizational change (Kool & van Dierendonck, 2012). Servant leadership is an effective leadership style during downsizing due to empowerment, authenticity, and stewardship traits (Schneider & George, 2011; van Dierendonck, & Nuijten, 2011). Building on prior research on transformational leadership by Burns (1978), Howell and

Avolio (1993) showed a positive correlation between employees' productivity levels and transformational leadership styles. The transformational leadership style appeals to the higher needs of followers; however, the higher needs could be those of the individual and not of the group (Cherian & Jacob, 2013; Grant, 2012).

Communication and the lack of activity influence employees' perceptions of a downsizing event (McDevitt, Giapponi, & Houston, 2013). Overuse of positive language can turn followers off to the message the leader is trying to relay to them (Collinson, 2012). The ability to relay clear communication, especially during times of uncertainty, is a vital requirement to meet leadership goals of maintaining and achieving organizational success (Conrad & Newberry, 2012).

Organizational Communication

Regardless of leadership style, leaders need to engage employees (Smollan, 2011), exhibit effective communication (McClean, Burris, & Detert, 2013), and influence followers (Bass & Avolio, 1994; Bhat et al., 2012; Kool & van Dierendonck, 2012; O'Toole, 1996). Leadership responses to employees' voices and the effectiveness of communications with leadership have led to mixed results (McClean et al., 2013). Open communication works as long as leaders are able and willing to act on the feedback from employees; otherwise, there is a risk of employees losing motivation (McClean et al., 2013). Employees' voices and organizational communications are necessities in business (Hsiung, 2012). The use of open communication in leader and member exchanges when feedback is positive leads to heightened employee engagement and success (Hsiung, 2012; Nastase et al., 2012).

Open communication with employees has a well-established paradigm within literature (Homburg et al., 2012; Hynes, 2012; Linke & Zerfass, 2011; Rosenberg & Mosca, 2011). Leadership can use communication to relay to employees how change affects the employee during a downsizing event (McDevitt et al., 2013). Employees often feel resistance to change because they feel work fatigue from constant change initiatives and lack of communication (Buell-Hirsch, 2014). A survey study of 246 entry-level or mid-level managers from universities in New Jersey and Washington included questions pertaining to the participants' experiences associated with organizational change (Rosenberg & Mosca, 2011). The results of the study with regard to the following reports of experiences were negative: (a) if there was an explanation of the change, (b) if employees felt there was consideration of their needs, (c) if the change had a schedule, (d) if employees witnessed the change as it took place, and (e) if employees felt empowered to help change (Rosenberg & Mosca, 2011). Employees want to have changes communicated to them; leadership can take the needed steps to communicate the process (Linke & Zerfass, 2011).

Leadership must follow up communication with action (Hynes, 2012). Eightyfour percent of graduate students at two business schools responded to a questionnaire by
indicating that they went through a change initiative but only 47% thought leaders
considered their needs (Rosenberg & Mosca, 2011). Leaders in a constantly changing
work environment must engrave into all levels an organization's culture including
consideration of employees who embrace change (Pirjol & Maxim, 2012).

Researchers have recognized the importance of interpersonal communication

within an organization between leadership and employees (Hynes, 2012; Linke & Zerfass, 2011). Employees' productivity is a reflection of their feelings toward managers, coworkers, and the organization (Hynes, 2012). Communication leads to innovation that indirectly leads to productivity (Linke & Zerfass, 2011). Downsizing is a reflection of an organization's performance that could change the way suppliers react to the downsizing event (Homburg et al., 2012). Downsizing can affect the relationship between an organization and its customers, even if the downsizing does not affect a customer directly (Homburg et al., 2012).

Communication is an integral tool to achieve success within organizations (Hynes, 2012; Linke & Zerfass, 2011); how leaders use communication is important to the success. Bridging leadership is the act of leaders using collaboration between organizations (McMullen & Adobor, 2011). Leaders' lack of abilities to recognize the value in employees can cause a failure in collaboration (Westley & Mintzberg, 1989). The three-step process of active leadership includes the (a) vision of the leader, (b) communication by leadership, and (c) empowerment or action given to employees to act (Westley & Mintzberg, 1989). Leaders have a higher need to communicate with and empower the employees (Westley & Mintzberg, 1989).

Communication also helps minimize the loss of production during times of downsizing (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Communication and overall employee welfare contribute to high-performance work groups' overall successes when using labor productivity as a measurement for successes (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). High-performance teams need open communication (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). Organizational

leaders can provide clear and consistent messages during downsizing events to show transparency and trust (Hynes, 2012; Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Linke & Zerfass, 2011). Leadership qualities are important in times of downsizing (Wells & Peachey, 2011) and communication with employees is essential for positive outcomes (Hynes, 2012; Linke & Zerfass, 2011).

Employee Motivation

Employees have undergone employment transformations from long-term regular employment to short-term casual employment (Ko & Yeh, 2013). Employees willing to change jobs regularly pose additional retention challenges for organizational leaders, especially during stressful times of downsizing (Prottas, 2013). When downsizing occurs, employees go through a psychological breakdown because the mental contract the employee had with the company breaks (Waraich & Bhardwaj, 2012). The mental contract exists with an employee's leader; when the relationship is good between the employee and the leader, productivity has a positive outcome (Baruah & Barthakur, 2012).

Organizations are changing from a preconceived organizational structure of standard alignment to a more fluent structure to accommodate a new generation of employees (Ramendran, Raman, Moona Haji Mohamed, Beleya, & Nodeson, 2013). Organizational flexibility is a way for organizational leaders to accommodate a changing workforce to strike a work–family balance and in return generate greater productivity from employees (Kossek, Kalliath, & Kalliath, 2012). Increases in pay, job security, and work environment motivate employees to produce; however, there is a new workforce

motivator that involves time outside of work (Aisha & Hardjomidjojo, 2013).

Employees find different methods for motivating themselves that lead to positive results (Achim, Dragolea, & Balan, 2013). Research on the self-efficacy theory and the ways self-efficacy motivates employees to be productive revealed that employees with high self-efficacy or confidence in their abilities had more positive experiences with job performance (Cherian & Jacob, 2013). When employees set high goals and motivate themselves to reach the goals, employees enrich their overall experiences and generate high success rates of productivity (Cherian & Jacob, 2013).

Organizational Knowledge

Employees have lower productivity after a workforce reduction (Karkoulian et al., 2013; Kawai, 2011) and organizational success is dependent on finding the cause of the low production. Organizational leaders need to keep knowledge within their organizations to stay competitive in the marketplace (Singh & Sharma, 2011). Organizational knowledge sharing is a key practice to employee satisfaction that leads to employee productivity (Tsirikas et al., 2012). Study of the problem led to conclusive relationships among factors pertaining to the problem, with limited suggestions for finding out how to fix the problem (Malik et al., 2011).

A study on the effects of change exhaustion on employees involved a six-item measurement scale on the relationship between employees fatigued from constant change with bad outcomes due to constant change (Bernerth, Walker, & Harris, 2011). The finding was a positive relationship between employee fatigue and constant change (Bernerth et al., 2011). A limitation of the study was the decision to use only one group to

make a determination for when work fatigue starts (Bernerth et al., 2011).

Overworked employees tend to have lower levels of job satisfaction that leads to the inability of leaders to retain the employees (Malik & Usman, 2011). Factors can contribute directly to low productivity and directly relate to the effects of downsizing (Ko & Yeh, 2013). A quantitative study of more than 9,000 people across 12 organizations indicated employers should focus on the overall aspect of employee well-being (Robertson et al., 2012). Analysis of survey data revealed the effects of employee productivity based on their job and work attitudes (Robertson et al., 2012). The results showed that leaders needed to understand more aspects than just the attitudes of the employees (Roberston et al., 2012). Employees are an essential part of any organizational turnaround; employees' feelings and well-being are part of what makes employees productive (Bernerth et al., 2011; Robertson et al., 2012).

Leaders in larger international companies adjust workforces to avoid downsizing because those leaders change salary restrictions to ease the burden created during bad economic times (Hajkrová & Pálka, 2011). Organizational leaders are making efforts to augment their workforce, making adjustments to preserve company success (Tsai & Shih, 2013). People affected by downsizing decisions want company leaders to focus less on short-term gains and more on long-term viability and employee well-being (Eccles, Perkins, & Serafeim, 2012).

Not all employees find work conditions to be considerations in levels of job satisfaction (Bakotic & Babic, 2013). A study of the working conditions of 60 workers of a Croatian shipbuilding company indicated no relationship existed between work

conditions and job satisfaction (Bakotic & Babic, 2013). However, splitting the administrative jobs from the jobs with difficult conditions led to job satisfaction becoming a consideration for jobs with more difficult work conditions (Bakotic & Babic, 2013). Work conditions can play a positive part in employee job satisfaction but can also be a determinant of whether an employee stays (Bakotic & Babic, 2013; Eccles et al., 2012).

Employees are important components of organizational turnarounds in times of financial difficulties (Karkoulian et al., 2013; Kawai, 2011); the factors that affect employees internally (at work) and externally (away from work) are important for organizational outcomes (Bakotic & Babic, 2013; Eccles et al., 2012). A study on the relationship between employee satisfaction and customer service satisfaction about employee productivity revealed no correlation (Baruah & Barthakur, 2012). Despite the lack of a relationship between employee and customer satisfaction, a risk of not retaining employees existed due to low organizational satisfaction (Baruah & Barthakur, 2012).

In an empirical study of a manufacturing sector of India, surviving employees worked harder in fear of losing their jobs if they did not put in more efforts (Waraich & Bhardwaj, 2012). Despite the research that showed a high rate of failure for downsizing (Hughes, 2011; Luan et al., 2013; Shin et al., 2012), organizational leaders continue to look toward employees for answers regarding how to make downsizing successful. Employees' resiliencies to change and abilities to operate under high stress are attractive qualities for organizational leaders looking to overcome high failure rates (Mayton, 2011; Smollan, 2011).

Employees are important parts of organizations but organizational leaders should be able to make changes in line with the demand of the business (Ramendran et al., 2013). Organizational leaders who show flexibility keep up with changing environments and retain employees with higher levels of satisfaction (Ramendran et al., 2013). Organizational leaders need to introduce employees to different work duties gradually to avoid stress and employee burnout (Ramendran et al., 2013). Organizational flexibility can include flexibility in wages, flexibility in work time, and headcount flexibility; for employees who experience work overloads, time flexibility can help to make work less stressful (Ramendran et al., 2013).

Two opposite but related areas concerning employee flexibility at work are an employee's ability to work flexible hours and support from supervisors when adjustments in scheduling need to be made (Wickramasinghe, 2012). The stressors employees face at work, including job security, added workload, and threats to the employee's future influence the well-being of employees (Wickramasinghe, 2012). Questionnaire responses from a random sample of 232 employees of a software firm revealed the effect of flex scheduling and supervisor intervention on stressed employees (Wickramasinghe, 2012). The findings indicated that when supervisor support was available, employees had positive feelings; as the level of supervisory support decreased, the level of employee motivation also decreased (Wickramasinghe, 2012).

The introduction of the Internet at work led to the risk for abuse by employees (Heydari, Danesh, Jamehshooran, & Teimouri, 2011). The lack of recognition by organization leaders of employees can lead to abuses and employee confidence may

decline; abuses and lack of recognition by leaders can lead to low production (Heywood, Siebert, & Wei, 2011). Scholars have widely accepted that employees play a vital role in success within organizations when guided by direction and recognition (Baruah & Barthakur, 2012).

The definition of organizational knowledge is general, without a widely accepted definition (Alrawi, Hamdan, Al-Taie, & Ibrahim, 2013). Employees' values and perceptions are significant factors in their willingness to share knowledge (Casimir, Lee, & Loon, 2012). Leaders of organizations trying to establish knowledge within their organizations should learn how to move forward with the employees' values in mind (Alrawi et al., 2013). Organizational knowledge is important to an organization's success, yet leaders often overlook organizational knowledge when downsizing (Schmitt, Borzillo, & Probst, 2012). A key prerequisite for an effective downsizing event is identifying organizational knowledge in the planning stages (Sitlington & Marshall, 2011). The focus of prior literature was on recycling information from one downsizing event to another (Sitlington & Marshall, 2011) with a suggestion to not create new knowledge and instead retain existing knowledge (Levy, 2011; Sitlington & Marshall, 2011).

Organizational leaders have determined organizational knowledge is important in the planning stage of a downsizing event when planning begins (Von Krogh et al., 2012). When knowledge sharing does not exist within an organization, surviving employees from a layoff can become discouraged and show adverse reactions to production (Casimir et al., 2012). Employee openness and trust toward an organizational culture facilitate

knowledge sharing (Casimir et al., 2012; Wiewiora, Trigunarsyah, Murphy, & Coffey, 2013). Hotel managers received surveys as part of a research study to determine how employee empowerment led to greater team performance (Srivastava, Bartol, & Locke, 2006). Empowerment of employees within an organization leads to greater sharing of knowledge that ultimately leads to greater organizational performance (Srivastava et al., 2006).

Human resources are integral in acknowledging, retaining, and sharing organizational knowledge (Kuo, 2011). An employee's commitment to an organization with continuous support for an organization's success can contribute to open communication and to how an organization supports the employee (Syed & Lin Xiao, 2012). Human resource leadership can manage employee burnout and encourage employee production by fostering engagement and communication with employees at all levels of an organization (Basu & Parveen, 2012). A study on the role of human resources and the ability to use managed practices by human resources revealed a gap between executive decisions on downsizing and the consideration given to employees (Marks & Mirvis, 2011). Cultural differences among employees during times of downsizing formed obstacles that led to change failures (Marks & Mirvis, 2011). The four employee involvement elements that foster employee engagement leading to increased employee productivity and engagement are power, information, knowledge and skills, and rewards (Phipps, Prieto, & Ndinguri, 2013). Phipps et al. (2013) explained the elements provided employees with an outlet for employees to be more productive. Employees engaged in the organizational change processes become more motivated

toward increased productivity (Basu & Parveen, 2012; Srivastava et al., 2006; Syed & Lin Xiao, 2012).

Narrative knowledge sharing is an area shown to be an effective tool for sharing knowledge (Geiger & Schreyögg, 2012). The findings on effective narrative knowledge sharing indicated narrative knowledge sharing methods alone were not sufficient due to the use of generalization and storytelling (Geiger & Schreyögg, 2012). If methods of knowledge sharing are not effective, then organizational leaders must find ways to share knowledge to ensure success (Alrawi et al., 2013).

The use of downsizing and the terminology referring to it may change; however the act of downsizing and resulting organizational outcomes remain the same (Gandolfi & Littler, 2012). Debate is ongoing about the overall effectiveness of a downsizing event and whether or not a downsizing event benefits an organization (Hughes, 2011). A top priority of organizational leadership is to find leaders who can lead organizations through turbulent times such as downsizing and motivate employees to be productive (Warrick, 2011). Organizational leaders must identify the value of employees and their competencies as well as what makes employees productive (Jabar et al., 2011). A qualitative case study allows participants to tell their stories; combined with other sources of data, one can understand better the defined topic (Thomas, 2011), leading to strategies for motivating employees to be productive (Yawson, 2013).

Transition

This study involved an attempt to reveal what strategies best motivate employees to be productive after a downsizing event. The results contribute to strategies

organizational leaders can use to motivate employees to be productive. In addition to employee productivity, the results provide insight into how employee motivation affects overall organizational performance.

A case study is the in depth study of a subject from multiple data sources from within the natural environment (Crowe et al., 2011; Thomas, 2011). The reason for interviewing business leaders and managers who participated in a downsizing event was to understand their experiences with downsizing. The goal was to find strategies business leaders can use to motivate retained employees to be productive after a workforce reduction.

Section 2: The Project

This section contains information specific to the study on downsizing, including details on my role as an inside researcher, the role of the business leaders and managers, the details of the data, and the analysis of the data collected. This section contains an indepth discussion on the validity and reliability of data gathering and analysis to show an understanding of the trustworthy components of the data gathering and analysis processes. This study was designed to produce results whose application will produce positive change by informing the way organizational leaders view employee productivity, empowering them to greater organizational success.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies that business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction. Use of a case study allowed for the in-depth study of a downsizing event from multiple perspectives (Thomas, 2011). A unique characteristic of a case study is the use of multiple sources (Yin, 2014). Yin (2014) referred to using multiple sources of evidence, creating a database, and maintaining a chain of evidence as three principles of trustworthy data collection. Six sources of information for data discovery include (a) documentation, (b) archival records, (c) interviews, (d) direct observations, (e) participant-observations, and (f) physical artifacts (Yin, 2014). The primary source of data collection was a semistructured interview process performed with two business leaders and a focus group of five managers who survived a downsizing event within telecommunications companies located in the eastern United States. In addition to the

interviews, I used documentation on the history of downsizing within the telecom industry, including data on the number of downsizes and how organizational leaders executed the downsizing.

This study encompassed the ways business leaders viewed the productivity of employees and how this lead to strategies to improve productivity that could affect social change stemming from greater organizational successes. Business leaders who do not take action risk losing employees they did not anticipate losing and the downsizing could affect customer service; however, the outcomes of the research showed a better work-life balance for employees whose business leaders exercised an informed approach. Using this approach is expected to assist organizations in reducing employee turnover, resulting in better organizational knowledge retention and performance.

Role of the Researcher

I was the data collection instrument for this qualitative study. My role as the researcher was to establish a research design, obtain approval from the university's Institutional Review Board (IRB), and then perform the participant identification, data collection, and data analysis. To ensure the privacy of participants and ethical research, I upheld the validity of the study by ensuring participants privacies was maintained. I upheld the three factors of ethical treatment of participants by ensuring the participants entered the research willingly and understood what I expected from them. I was guided on participant treatment by the work done in the Belmont Report (Dubois et al., 2012). Participants have to feel respected, there has to be an understanding of what is expected through consent forms, and the procedures need to be administered fairly (Davidson &

Page, 2012; DuBois et al., 2012). This was accomplished by having the participants gain access to the study by signing a consent form (Appendix A) prior to participating in the study, acknowledging they understood the expectations of participation in the study. At any time, any participant could have stopped the interview, asked questions, or left the study.

I Solicited potential participants occurred through the cooperation of my organization from participants not directly working with me. I conducted the interviews with participants were over the phone and also conducted the focus group interview in person. I used a phone interview with business leaders in place of a face-to-face interview due to scheduling difficulties. There could be some loss of personal feel in the interview but due availability of participants phone interviews were preferred. I used an interview protocol and within it I identified the interviewee, interviewer, and an outline of the questions posed to the business leaders (see Appendix A). In addition to the interview protocol for business leaders, there was a focus group protocol for the managers outlining questions for the focus group and identification of participants (see Appendix B).

Data collection occurred through interviews that followed ethical guidelines. To maintain participants' privacy, I stored the data in a locked safe and maintained the data on a password-protected personal computer. This observance of integrity, ethics, and participants' privacies helped to ensure the validity of the study, in alignment with the guidelines of Keller and Casadevall-Keller (2010). I took steps to minimize my bias in the interviews with participants so to keep focus on myself as the researcher away from my prior experience in the industry. I did this by ensuring participants' responses were

not guided by me, the researcher, by using a written protocol to allow the participants to answer questions without biased inputs.

My work on this study was informed by my active career as an operations manager in the telecommunications industry. I have been a part of 10 downsizing events that affected coworkers or me in a 16-year career in telephony. These first hand experiences with downsizing in the telecommunications industry led to my developing a desire to study the effects of employee productivity after the downsizing of employees transpired. The participants in the focus group or in one-on-one interviews were not people who reported to me or who were below my level of authority, avoiding potential ethical issues and conflicts of interest. I minimized my bias and beliefs as a manager within the industry and focused my questions on the participants and their responses. This study of employee productivity was designed to promote social change by informing how organizational leaders view downsizing and strategies that benefit employees, the organization, and consumers.

Participants

There were two groups of participants for this study. The first group consisted of two business leaders who participated in individual open-ended interviews. Business leaders had to be director level or higher for inclusion as a business leader participant.

The participation criterion for this element of the study was that the participants be business leaders who were direct supervisors to managers and who had a role in decision making during downsizing.

The second group consisted of five managers who had direct reports and did not have a role in decision making during downsizing. There was no restriction on the group within the organization from which the managers came from, but they had to occupy an operational manager-level or higher position. Because I worked at the organization containing the potential participants, I gained access to the participants by obtaining their phone numbers through department leaders and making contacts with the participants through phone conversations or emails. I solicited participants myself through acquaintances of different organizations using an organizational consent form, ensuring participants knew me as a researcher and not as a peer or coworker (see Appendix D). By soliciting participants through me as a researcher and not as a peer or coworker, I minimized perceived coercion or bias. I emailed a letter of consent to business leaders and managers to obtain their consent to participate in the study (see Appendix C & Appendix D).

Due to the nature of the telephony business and the parameters of the requirements to participate, there were not any participants under the age of 21 in the sample. There were no vulnerable groups targeted to be in the study. In telephony, as with any other profession, employees may have disabilities but no discrimination occurred through inclusion or exclusion criteria pertaining to disabilities.

It is important to choose participants with a direct interest in the research (Draper & Swift, 2011). The use of purposeful sampling was designed to bring participants into the research that could offer data that could help answer the research question, a process recommended by qualitative research experts (Poulis, Poulis, & Plakoyiannaki, 2013).

This section aligned with Fraher's (2013) In a study of downsizing of commercial airline pilots and the effects of downsizing on their morale, in which chose pilots who had experienced a downsizing event to ensure the participants comprised the target audience. The study recruitment method also aligned with Lund et al.'s (2014) use of purposeful sampling to maximize variations by choosing participants by age, ethnicity, and other social and economic status. In a similar way, Pisarski and Ashworth (2013) used purposeful selection of participants for their views and experience of environmental emissions for a study on energy climate and technology. Levack, Dean, Siegert, and McPherson (2011) and Patton (1990) contended purposeful sampling is the best and most accurate method of enlisting valid participants for a study.

I used purposeful sampling for my study. The selection of managers came from within the telecommunications industry to ensure that I had participants with direct experiences in the downsizing process. Each of the participating telecommunication managers had direct reports and were responsible for the successful outcomes of organizations. The participants included business leaders and managers in telecommunications directly affected by downsizing.

I took many considerations for compliance with ethical research guidelines when recruiting participants, per Barbour (2010) and Frances et al., (2010). I explained my role as the researcher and communicated that they were not obligated to answer any question. I had knowledge of the participants through mutual coworkers, but I did not have a direct working relationship with any of the participants. The knowledge and experiences of each participant with the telecommunications industry and downsizing, which made them

ideal contributors to the study and made their knowledge, add value to the study. When working with the participants in the study, communication of the ethical standards and expectations of the participants occurred with the promise to uphold the confidentiality of the participants and identifying information, in accordance with recommendations by research experts (Damianakis & Woodford, 2012; Moustakas, 1994).

The participants were aware of what they needed to do in the interviews. I will keep participant data and records for 5 years on a thumb drive and folder in a password-protected safe, after which time destruction of participants' data records will occur by shredding the data records with a shredder and permanently deleting data from the drive. After initially making contact with the participants via a phone call, I sent a follow-up email that included the consent form (see Appendix C & Appendix D) for participants. The participants had the opportunity to review the consent form and ask questions about what their expectations were for the study. Once the participants reviewed the consent form and I answered any questions they had and each business leader signed a consent form acknowledging their understanding. Participants received a summary of the results of the study for review and feedback, thereby adding trustworthiness to the research process.

Research Method and Design

The methods researchers use to conduct research include qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Doz, 2011; Hanson et al., 2011). Researchers may face quandaries regarding which method to use; however, the research question should be the central guide to determine the method (Bredmar, 2013; Wester, Borders, Boul, & Horton, 2013).

Qualitative research is the study of an unknown topic such as employee productivity and allows participants to tell their thoughts, opinions, and feelings (Hoflund, 2013). A case study design allows for the study of a topic in the natural setting and leads to answers to research questions using multiple sources (Crowe et al., 2011). The lack of knowledge on the subject of employee productivity from the managers' perspectives leading to a need to interview participants supported the single case approach of a case study design (Radley & Chamberlain, 2012).

Research Method

The goal of this study was to explore strategies that motivate employees to be productive after a downsizing event. Business leaders views of the after-downsizing topic of productivity of retained employees were central to the research question (Allwood, 2012). Prior research on downsizing and the ways it affected employees involved was sparse, leading to the identification of a gap in knowledge about downsizing outcomes (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011; Kemal & Shahid, 2012; Muñoz-Bullón & Sánchez-Bueno, 2011). The purpose of using a qualitative method was to explore the lack of knowledge and to add a deeper understanding of downsizing events (Moustakas, 1994; Yin, 2014).

Topics of empirical studies on downsizing included organizational results, employee productivity, and organizational advantages through the lens of quantitative designs (Güth & Paul, 2011; Magán-Díaz & Céspedes-Lorente, 2012). There is a concern with quantitative studies and the thoroughness of findings due to the limitation of investigations to few well-known variables (Wester et al., 2013). The research associated with downsizing has established variables and constructs with known facts to test a

hypothesis with statistical comparisons (Bendassolli, 2013; Corner, 2002). Iverson and Zatzick (2011) used established variables (employees) and constructs (downsizing) to determine how high performance teams remained motivated and productive. A similar study by Muñoz-Bullón and Sánchez-Bueno (2011) with established variables (employees) and constructs (downsizing) involved employees without regard to involvement in high performance teams. Although these attempts revealed limited information about downsizing events and productivity, they did not illuminate the possibility of unknown factors that could stem from managers' perceptions and experiences. The researcher determined the research method by the research question and the research question pertained to strategies that motivate employees to be productive after a workforce reduction (Bredmar, 2013). The exploration took place using a qualitative method to avoid the restriction of findings from a narrow set of previously defined variables involving constructs of prior quantitative research efforts.

Researchers may learn unknown information about employee productivity motivation after downsizing from the business leaders' perspectives; therefore, the qualitative method that involves the capture of those in-depth experiences is an appropriate method for studying the phenomenon (Doz, 2011). An opportunity for participants to share their experiences through interviews allows open communication and candor on issues valuable to a more comprehensive understanding of the study topic (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Qualitative methods involve an interview process requiring the interviewer to know and understand the familiar aspects of the topic (Qu & Dumay, 2011). Interviewing participants allowed me to obtain their experiences that led to insight

about how they motivate employees to be productive. The qualitative approach allowed themes to develop about common concepts of how managers motivate employees (Turner, 2010). Qualitative methodology has limitations due to researcher bias; a researcher who has beliefs regarding how participants should answer interview questions can bring bias into qualitative methodology (Woodard, 2012). Constructing interview questions prior to engaging the first participant helped to minimize bias.

Mixed methods research requires proficiency and competency in both quantitative and qualitative research (Venkatesh et al., 2013). The use of both qualitative and quantitative methods provides a better understanding of research associated with a research problem (Cameron, 2011a). However, even with the double validation of the research problem that mixed-methods research often offers, time and financial constraints can limit its use (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2013). The researcher considered a mixed method study using quantitative methods and tools associated with a larger size and qualitative methods and tools for in-depth discussions with a smaller sample (Metcalf, Hess, Danes, & Singh, 2012; Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Mixed methods research would involve spending equal time on both qualitative and quantitative components (Mayoh & Onwuegbuzie, 2013); therefore, it was not appropriate due to time constraints for this research

Research Design

The results of a study about the productivity of employees on high-performance teams revealed an explanation for low productivity; however, the perspectives of the managers were not a part of the study (Iverson & Zatzick, 2011). The purpose of this

study was to use a case study design to explore strategies business leaders use to motivate employees toward productivity after a downsizing event. The person who exhibited the experience within a specific case best provides the fullness of the experience (Olausson et al., 2013). Although researchers used case studies outside of business, use of multiple sources of data make case studies appropriate for business research (Zivkovic, 2012). A case study can encompass interview data, archived data, photographs, audio recordings, observations, and focus groups as the means for data collection (Amerson, 2011). Narrative design and grounded theory received consideration for this study. The following reasons form an explanation for why narrative design and grounded theory were not suitable.

A case study involves using multiple sources to understand a topic (Yin, 2014). Crowe et al. (2011) described three types of case studies as (a) intrinsic, (b) instrumental, and (c) collective. The instrumental case study, as described by Crowe et al. (2011) focused on a particular topic. The instrumental case study is useful in examining the strategies that motivate employees to be productive after a workforce reduction. The single points of the experiences expressed by participants were paramount and surfaced in interviews and focus group interactions. The advantage of an insider researcher in a case study is the researcher understands what the participants are saying (Unluer, 2102). With my experience in the telecommunications industry, I am an insider researcher. The interviews included business leaders and managers to extract their experiences that may contribute to the creation of strategies to improve productivity after a workforce reduction. Interview settings were comfortable to allow conversations free of anxieties

and tensions (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

Based on limited information related to the subject, narrative design is similar to phenomenological design in that it involves asking the participants open-ended questions (Hansen, 2011). Downsizing typically takes place in organizations experiencing poor economic times; researchers cannot easily chronicle downsizing, as the narrative design requires (Hansen, 2011; Saeed, Arshad, Fareed, Shahzad, & Lodhi, 2013). Narrative design allows for the shared responsibility of data analysis between the interviewer and the interviewee resulting in subjective interpretations (Uprichard, 2011). The intent of this study was to learn about the single event of downsizing through participants' experiences without any external factors injecting bias into the analysis process.

Grounded theory received consideration so I could observe the participants in their settings as the participants experience different phenomena (Reiter, Stewart, & Bruce, 2011). Grounded theory began in the field of sociology; researchers extended it to other fields of study to understand how a phenomenon happens naturally (Goulding, 2002). An association exists between downsizing and loss of employment; observing employees in their situations could lead to bias if participants acted in particular ways with decision makers in their work environments (Shedlin, 2011). Although grounded theory was enticing because observations of how participants interact within their environment would be beneficial, the risk of participant bias would be present (Goulding, 2002; Hoflund, 2013). In addition, grounded theory involves developing theory (Hoflund, 2013). This method is the reverse of traditional methods in which researchers choose a theoretical framework prior to beginning research (Hoflund, 2013). For these reasons, I

did not select grounded theory as the research design.

Population and Sampling

The telecommunications industry experienced downsizing as well as low employee retention rates (Ratna & Chawla, 2012). Two different sources of data consisting of business leaders and managers enabled triangulation (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012). Walsh and Bartunek (2011) interviewed small sets of participants in a multiple case study pertaining to former employees of defunct organizations. Walsh and Barunek (2011) designed the interview questions to be probing and extract information from the participants. Rubin and Rubin (2012) suggested one or two participants should participate per case for interviews. Participants consisted of business leaders and managers of a telecommunications company in the eastern United States. I used purposeful sampling to ensure the selection of two business leaders and five managers from operations, engineering, and human resources.

The focus of this study was to determine what makes employees productive after a workforce reduction and to choose business leaders and managers who survived a downsizing event. Access to prospective participants occurred through permission of the divisional vice presidents to contact those workers who fit the criteria but had not worked with me. Prospects had access to the criteria for the study and could contact me by email or phone for further inquiry. When a prospect did not participate in the initial inquiry, another worker with similar job functions from another region received an invitation to participate in the study. A researcher should choose the method based on whether the participants can help answer the research question (Draper & Swift, 2011); therefore, the

participants for this study included downsized employees in the telecommunications industry.

In a study of communication overload on librarians, the researchers specifically chose candidates related to the study topic and ensured the candidates met certain criteria, such as age, gender mixture, and years of service (Burns & Bossaller, 2012). In their settings, participants need to feel comfortable and relaxed to encourage interaction (Qu & Dumay, 2011). I conducted my interviews in person to ensure the participants felt engaged and a part of the process. The participants indicated by marking the consent forms (see Appendix C & Appendix D) they had been a part of a downsizing event as a condition for involvement. The total number of participants needed for the study was two business leaders and a focus group of five to seven managers. If data saturation did not occur, then I would have selected groups of three additional participants at a time until I achieved saturation. To ensure I met the requirement for saturation, I confirmed that no data emreged from subsequent inquiries and that enough participants offered data that became repetitive, as an indication of data saturation (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013).

Sample Size

A case study uses multiple sources for data gathering to reach saturation and then triangulation of the data to ensure the analysis is complete (Bekhet & Zauszniewski, 2012). Multiple sources for gathering data are necessary to perform triangulation, achieve data saturation, and meet the minimum requirement for Walden University (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). The use of multiple sources, such as interviews and focus groups, allowed for openness and flexibility in the qualitative study, according to research experts (Tong,

Chapman, Israni, Gordon & Craig, 2013). The inclusion of data from multiple sources enhanced the depth and richness of the study (Denzin, 2012). To achieve understanding of the studied subject, multiple means to collect data were necessary and consistent with recommendations for rigorous qualitative research (Goulding, 2002).

I used member checking and triangulation of multiple data sources, inspecting themes to minimize subjectivity in the research and bring credibility through trustworthy research tactics (Jonsen & Jehn, 2009). According to Goulding (2002), feedback from participants adds credibility to qualitative research. In this study, I used multiple sources for member checking to triangulate themes from the interviews. I added additional sources of data, such as documentation on downsizing, to triangulate data and reach appropriate themes (Flick, Garms-Homolová, Herrmann, Kuck, & Röhnsch, 2012).

The participants came from different organizations within a telecommunications company in the eastern United States, forming a sample consisting of business leaders and managers. Participants did not need to belong to any specific work group within an organization. They only needed to fit the criteria of having survived downsizing in the telecommunications industry. I notified the potential participants by e-mail or phone from a list provided by an organizational leader to request their participation in the study. I email the consent forms to the participants or mailed the consent form if email was not available. I allocated 2 weeks to conduct the interviews and 1 week to transcribe the interviews and analyze the data. The consent form contained my phone number to allow the prospects and participants an opportunity to call me with questions or concerns.

Sample Criteria

Qualitative research experts suggested choosing participants with varying roles to obtain more exposure to the phenomenon (Draper & Swift, 2011; Rubin & Rubin, 2012; Stewart et al., 2007). I used participants from the telecommunications industry with varying roles. The inclusion criteria for the participants were experiences in the following areas: (a) working in the telecommunications industry, (b) functioning in a supervisory role as part of a downsizing event within the telecommunications industry, and (c) working as a business leader. The value in qualitative methodology is gaining an understanding of the phenomenon (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011); for this reason, it was necessary to have participants who have survived a downsizing event.

Prior to the interviews, the business leaders and the focus group participants received an introduction to the study including the purpose of the study, the potential impact on business practices, and the implications for social change. The participants from both groups asked questions pertaining to the study. The interviews for the business leaders included seven open-ended interview questions and lasted approximately one hour. The focus group interviews consisted of five open-ended questions for managers in the focus group so participants could share their experiences. The interview settings were quiet locations to minimize interruptions. The interviews took place in the evening after work to ensure enough time was available to answer all the interview questions and to allow for follow-up questions and responses.

Ethical Research

I maintained the confidentiality of participants to ensure no participant

experienced any actual or perceived retaliation by their employer for their role in the study. One method for strengthening the ethics of the research was to ensure safety for the participants (Keller & Casadevall-Keller, 2010). Although qualitative studies cannot be completely objective due to the subjective nature of the methodology, I upheld the integrity of the research by consideration of the well-being of the participants as recommended by Kapoulas and Mitic (2012). To maintain an honest and open relationship with the participants, it is important to communicate potential ethical concerns to the participants through the consent forms and ensure the privacy of the participants (Xie, Wu, Luo, & Hu, 2012). Within the proposed qualitative study, I considered the tendency of participants to stretch the truth, as suggested by Wengraf (2001). Although some could hold back on telling details of unhappy events, researchers need all data to determine if the data are factual (Wengraf, 2001). The informed consent letter (see Appendix C & Appendix D) shows the steps taken to ensure the ethical integrity of this study. I initiated the process of obtaining a signed consent form using an email from the prospective participants. If there was no contact with the participant after I received permission from the company, I made follow-up phone calls to the prospective participants. After I receive a signed consent form, a discussion about the schedule for the interviews occurred.

Each participant was be able to withdraw at any time for any reason by contacting me by phone, email, or in a written letter stating he or she no longer wished to participate, a process recommended by research experts (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). If a participant wished to withdraw from the study, the final analysis would not have included that

participant's data and in no way would the participant be negatively affected in any way. Participation was voluntary. There was no compensation to the participants for taking part in the process. The data transcripts will remain on a thumb drive stored in a password-protected safe for 5 years. After 5 years, I will permanently delete the data by erasing the memory on the thumb drive and physically destroying the device.

Data Collection Instruments

Instrument

I was the primary data collection instrument (Wengraf, 2001). Methods for data collection included semistructured interviews, open-ended questions, and documentation on downsizing (Turner, 2010). The data collection tool consisted of seven open-ended semistructured interview questions (see Appendices A & B) presented to business leaders regarding the topic of surviving a downsizing event. In addition to the seven interviews questions for business leaders, there were five interview questions for a focus group of five managers related to the downsizing event. The documentation was the third method of data and obtained from various public records on downsizing. Retrieval of the public records occurred by using internet searchers and company website searches. The number of participants, dependent on the purpose of the study, included two business leaders and five managers (Kyale, 2007). The in-depth, semistructured interviews had open-ended questions that enabled the participants to provide descriptive answers (and not interpretive answers) that allowed the participants to share their experiences, in accordance with recommendations for rigorous research (Cachia & Millward, 2011; Giorgi, 2012). Using open-ended questions is sometimes difficult due to the challenge of

grouping data into common themes (Turner, 2010). Open-ended interview questions may minimize researcher bias by allowing participants to freely describe their experiences (Nirupama & Etkin, 2012). The use of qualitative questioning helped me explore downsizing from the perspectives of the participants. The abilities for participants to share their experiences led me to choose open-ended questions and semistructured interviews (see Appendices A & B). Scholars use member checking to heighten the trustworthiness of qualitative research findings based on interview data (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). After the interviews and before final publication, I used transcript checking and member checking by asking the participants to both review and clarify responses and assess the findings established through related coding during analysis. Some scholars believe there could be interpretation problems with member checking; however, most research experts agree that the process heightens the trustworthiness of findings (Barusch, Gringeri, & George, 2011).

The purpose of a case study is to explore a phenomenon through multiple methods (Thomas, 2011). The study of an organization's downsizing survivors can be effective by analyzing responses from a small sample instead of collecting data from a large group of participants common in quantitative methods (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Data collection for qualitative studies is not dependent on statistically constructed models based on large numbers; instead, data collection involves saturation achieved by in-depth inquiries of smaller groups and multiple sources of data (Thomas & Magilvy, 2011; Yin, 2014). For this study, there were two business leaders interviewed and five participants in the focus group.

In my role as the researcher, my experience with the topic of downsizing established a shared experience with the participants, as acknowledged by Reiter et al. (2011). Uncovering the experiences of the participants indicated the productivity of survivors of downsizing events (Giorgi, 2012). It is important to have empirical literature on downsizing; however, the strength of this study came from how the participants interpreted and expressed their experiences through interviews and focus groups.

Semistructured interviews and a focus group were the sources of data that allowed the participants to share their experiences. The long interview is a shared experience between the researcher and the participant with predetermined questions the researcher may or may not use (Moustakas, 1994). I extracted the answers to the main interview questions from participants by using probing questions for depth and richness, as suggested by Moustakas (1994) and Rubin and Rubin (2012). Researchers reach data saturation when no new information stems from additional data collection (Guest et al., 2006; O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). The interviews with business leaders and the focus group of managers were sufficient to gather enough data to achieve the data saturation recommended by research experts (Amerson, 2011; Mason, 2010).

Coding is a process of analysis that involves organizing answers from transcribed interview questions to create themes based on major topics that emerge from the data (Da Mota-Pedrosa, Näslund, & Jasmand, 2012). I transcribed the data that emerged from the interviews and used coding to ascertain themes, as directed by Closs, Speier, and Meacham (2011). Microsoft Excel was a suitable way to organize data and bring order to the concepts. I brought credibility to the study by transcribing and coding the data in a

search for themes from participants' responses about their experiences related to a downsizing event. To ensure consistency through the transcription process, I maintained the original transcripts of the interviews for the purposes of transcript checking, as recommended by Barusch (2011).

The qualitative interview is an in-depth tool used to gather participants' experiences with downsizing. Houghton, Casey, Shaw, and Murphy (2013) completed qualitative research in nursing and they suggested a process called transcript checking to be done after transcripts and before analysis. Houghton et al. (2013) argued that member checking after synthesis of the interview transcripts would be unrecognizable to the participants but that members of the sample could participate in member checking following analysis. In a similar way, Walker and McNamara (2013) suggested transcript checking and member checking to improve the accuracy and relevance of what the participants were trying to say. After interviewing and before final analysis I had participants check their transcripts and review results from coding of responses to help improve the trustworthiness of the research process.

Participants received an interview guide and a list of expectations (see Appendix C & Appendix D). Due to the expansive geographic area for attaining the business leader participants, I interviewed the business leaders on the phone. I conducted the focus group interview in person and at the convenience of the participants to encourage participants to share their feelings on downsizing. I maintained continuity throughout the interview process by asking the same open-ended questions to each participant to ensure reliability and to allow the participants to answer freely.

I recorded the participants' answers to the open-ended questions on a Livescribe Echo Smartpen digital recording device and used my smart phone's audio recorder for backup. Each participant received a number for identification purposes and I transcribed participants' answers and organized them in an Excel spreadsheet that aided in the development of themes. I protected the data in a password-protected safe until the completion of the study, at which time I placed the entire collection of data into storage that will remain for 5 years. At the conclusion of 5 years, I will delete the information from the thumb drive and physically destroy the thumb drive.

I organized my interview notes, data, and questions into categories before coding for clarity, as suggested by Moustakas (1994). The qualitative methodology involves extracting data from participants using interviews to gather purposeful data to answer research questions. Section 3 includes the findings supported by and compared to the results from prior peer-reviewed literature.

Data Collection Technique

The participants consisted of two business leaders working for a telecommunications company in the eastern United States. In addition to the interviews with business leaders, I conducted a focus group interview session consisting of five managers. I used a case study design to extract data from multiple sources. Purposive sampling helped to ensure the candidates chosen to participate in interviews and focus groups experienced a downsizing event.

I determined the eligibility of candidates. After receiving IRB approval, I contacted participants via email or telephone to begin recruitment efforts, obtain signed

informed consent forms, and schedule interviews and focus group participation. I audio recorded the interviews using the Livescribe Echo Smartpen digital recording device; my smart phone recording device served as a backup, consistent with recommended approaches by qualitative research experts (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Participants responded to seven interview questions in the business leaders' interviews and five interview questions in the focus group session of managers. Questions pertained to their experiences.

Interview success depends on the ability of the interviewer to obtain knowledge through the interview process (Turner, 2010). Interviewers obtain knowledge by building trust with participants (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Through establishing confidentiality with participants, understanding when to ask for more information regarding the answer to a question, respecting participants' time, and ensuring open communication, an interviewer can build trust and knowledge (Giorgi, 2012). Considering the participant and the role of the researcher in the interview allows for the generation of data leading to an understanding of the participant's experience (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Researchers use pilot studies, in part, to validate interview questions and test new data collection methods (Kim, 2011). Because of the use of a qualitative method and a design that did not involve any new methods for gathering data, a pilot study was not necessary.

Data Organization Technique

The interview questions (see Appendices A & B) formed the foundation for the data collection. The participants expressed knowledge of the terms of the consent form and the confidentiality of the entire data collection process. The business leader

interviews were held via phone calls and the focus group of managers occurred in person. The participants were able to contact me by phone or email if the participants had any questions. The participants signed a consent form indicating they understood the study and their roles in the study. Prior to the interviews, the participants knew I would record the conversations that occurred during the interviews. Recording participants' interviews ensured accuracy in the data collection component of the study (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). I recorded the interviews to ensure the accuracy of the data collected.

To protect the privacy of the participants, I coded the participants' identities using an alphanumeric system (for example, Management Participant 1 was M1). Coding information from different sources heightened the trustworthiness of the research process (Krippendorff, 2011). I coded the interpretive data as well as the participant and I used thematic data analysis by breaking down the information from the transcripts into patterns that led to themes. I coded the data from a multiple perspective approach to ensure I did not bring a preconceived outcome of the data analysis to the study. I discarded any information not related to the interview questions and conducted follow-up interviews as necessary to achieve saturation. I transcribed the data from the audio recordings and notes written on a tablet to an Excel spreadsheet. The storage for the data is a thumb drive and my password-protected personal computer is the backup data storage device. The data will remain stored for a period of 5 years and then destroyed.

Data Analysis

The interview questions comprised the data collection tool. Interview questions helped to obtain the experiences and insight of the business leaders and managers. A

qualitative method is suitable for the study of human behavioral interactions and a case study researcher uses multiple sources of data such as interviews and focus groups to study a phenomenon (Da Mota-Pedrosa et al., 2012). The interview questions for business leaders included the following:

- 1. What were your experiences with downsizing relating to how your organization executed the process?
- 2. What type of communication did your organization use after the downsizing event?
- 3. How did your job functions change after the workforce reduction?
- 4. What was your work environment like as it relates to asking managers to do more work, stay later, and assuming varying roles after the downsizing event?
- 5. From your experience, please describe some activities you believe made managers more productive after a workforce reduction?
- 6. Post downsizing event how did you see your employees' job changing at work?
- 7. Please share anything else you would like to add to the discussion that I have not asked.

The questions for the focus group of managers included the following:

- 1. What were your experiences with downsizing relating to how your organization executed the process?
- 2. What type of communication occurred between yourself and the business leader over your organization?

- 3. How did you decide job functions for the employees that reported to you after the workforce reduction?
- 4. What was your work environment like as it relates to doing more work, stay later, and assuming varying roles after the downsizing event?
- 5. Please share anything else you would like to add to the discussion that I have not asked.

I transcribed the data into an Excel spreadsheet after completing the interviews and extracted data leading to themes from saturated concepts using thematic method of analysis for case study data (Boyatzis, 1998). I used open-ended with business leaders and managers of varying groups within telecommunication organizations. Different groups in an organization work together for the better good of the organization in the same way systems theory explains how open systems work towards collective strategies for the overall success of the organization (Mainardes et al., 2011).

Yin (2014) suggested using a theoretical propositions strategy to data analysis since the proposition of the case shapes the data collection. I focused all sources of data collection around the coding of key words and phrases into themes related to the problem of motivating retained employees (Krippendorff, 2011). After I coded relevant responses properly into themes related to the specific business problems of strategies to motivate employees, I triangulated all sources back to the single case of downsizing.

Researchers distinguish thematic analysis from other data analysis techniques because of the qualitative approach to the analysis compared to statistical analysis that considers quantitative variables (Vaismoradi, Turunen, & Bondas, 2013). I used a

thematic method of data analysis, an effective tool for summarizing information from multiple sources (Boyatzi, 1998). I used thematic coding to organize data into themes that linked data from multiple sources. Following the data analysis, I ensured the inclusion of only relevant data.

The analysis of the data helped me to organize the information into themes for a characterization of participants' responses and an understanding of the downsizing event. I assigned an alphanumeric code to each participant. To find common themes among the participants' responses, I transcribed the responses to each interview question, organized on an Excel spreadsheet.

The focus of the systems theory is how the different parts of a system interact for the good of the entire system (Johnson et al., 1964). This study involved exploring the experiences of employees as the employees experienced downsizing through in-depth discussions with the participants. The parts of the system included in this study may be business leaders and managers of the organization and the data of these system parts contribute to the understanding of the whole system.

A researcher uses a case study to study a phenomenon using multiple methods in a natural environment (Gibbert & Ruigrok, 2010). The goal is to obtain the perspectives of business leaders and managers and not just an objective record of their accounts (Harris, Collinson, & das Nair, 2012). Scholars use case study design to look at a single phenomenon from different sources (Yin, 2014). The sources for this study included interviews with business leaders, a focus group, and organizational documentation. The documentation retrieval occurred prior to interviews of business leaders and the focus

group of managers. The archival records included how many downsizing events the organization reported and how the company downsized, to contribute to the themes created by the analysis of data. Yin (2014) inferred one method of analysis in a single case is converging data to a single fact or theme. Boblin, Ireland, Kirkpatrick, and Robertson (2013) used both convergence and divergence to triangulate the information in their study. To triangulate data in this study, the analyst followed Yin's (2009) converging method.

Reliability and Validity

Obtaining the permission of the participants prior to beginning the interviews is vital in a qualitative study and elicits validity (Morales & Ladhari, 2011). Consistently repeating information throughout questioning to all participants brings reliability to qualitative research (Branthwaite & Patterson, 2011). Aligning the interview questions with the concept of employee productivity added validity to the study (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011).

Reliability

On a paper about qualitative studies, Ali and Yusof (2011) discussed the importance of reliability and the ability of scholars to duplicate the results of a study. In order to maintain reliability researchers should be honest and open about the results and should reveal any possible bias that exists (Goldblatt, Karnieli-Miller, & Neumann, 2011). Keller and Casadevall-Keller (2010) suggested minimizing bias when conducting research. Participants sometimes agree to be in a study to gain favor with the researcher, assuming there could be an advantage (Goldblatt et al., 2011). For the purpose of this

study, I informed the participants of the requirements to participate in the study and informed them that they would not receive any compensation. Interviews with business leaders were via phone calls; interviews with the focus group took place in person.

Transcript checking involved having participants check their responses to interview questions to ensure the accuracy of the participants' responses (Goldblatt et al., 2011). Jonsen and Jehn (2009) suggested using member checking as a form of triangulation by participant feedback. There were two significant steps within the member checking process the participants completed; I kept the original transcripts and ask for clarity of answers from the participants to ascertain the meaning of the responses and I allowed participants to offer input into the findings from the analysis of data.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) identified four components of qualitative research that builds trustworthiness: (a) credibility, (b) transferability, (c) dependability, and (d) confirmability. Thomas and Magilvy (2011) demonstrated in their study of nursing that qualitative research depends on researchers bringing personal experience to the research process by mitigating bias using Lincoln and Guba's four components.

Due to my experience with downsizing, I instituted several methods to ensure trustworthiness in the study. I used multiple sources of data to triangulate, as recommended by Lohle and Terrell (2014). Houghton et al. (2013) emphasized confirmability and dependability by ensuring data accurately stemmed from multiple, independent sources. I ensured confirmability and dependability in my study by triangulating the sources leading to themes.

A case study uses multiple methods for understanding a phenomenon in its natural

setting (Gibbert & Ruigrok, 2010). A single case study is a typical case and meant to lead to understanding based on information about the experience (Radley & Chamberlain, 2012; Yin, 2014). Acquiring as much information about the experience as the researcher can reveal is necessary for saturation (O'Reilly & Parker, 2013). Zucker (2009) defined three stages of progressing with a case study that will help with the analysis. The three steps defined by Zucker (2009) include (a) describing the experience; (b) describing meaning; and (c) focusing of the analysis. After data saturation occurred analysis through the application of the three steps led to themes brought about from the data.

Interviews continued until the participants' responses yielded no new data; at that point, saturation occurred (Conran, 2011). Denzin (1970) defined triangulation as using multiple qualitative methods in an effort to understand a phenomenon better. Denzin (2012) expanded the definition of triangulation to apply to both qualitative and quantitative methods encompassing multiple sources of data. As themes emerge, I triangulated the data to derive what made employees productive after a downsizing event, in accordance with recommendations by research experts (Conran, 2011; Denzin, 2012).

Validity

Lincoln and Guba (1985) stated believability and value of data within the study bring itself to credibility of the study. To ensure credibility, I used purposeful sampling to find participants who worked in telecommunications and had been part of a downsizing event. The standards of the IRB for protecting the participants offered a component of peer scrutiny to the research, with guidance by the dissertation committee, to heighten credibility, comfirmability, and dependability. Peer scrutiny including judgments about if

the purpose of the study aligned with the interview questions (Ihantola & Kihn, 2011). I ensured credibility and dependability by transcribing interviews leading to themes following data saturation. I reviewed the data from the audio recordings from the interviews to ensure accuracy.

It is difficult to determine the absolute meaning of validity due to its use by different methodologists (Rennie, 2012); however, it is important for qualitative researchers to consider transferability (Wisdom, Cavaleri, Onwuegbuzie, & Green, 2012). Transferability is for the reader to decide (Goldblatt et al., 2011; Marshall & Rossman, 2011; Thomas & Magilvy, 2011). Lincoln and Guba (1985) included transferability as a component of the trustworthiness in qualitative studies; the application of findings to differing groups is at the discretion of the reader but thick descriptions aid in judging those applications (Morales & Ladhari, 2011). Thick descriptions enable other researchers to be able to duplicate the study, show a relationship between the topics studied, and transfer the findings appropriately to other populations and settings (Branthwaite & Patterson, 2011; Oleinik, 2011).

A researcher's use of an informed consent brings credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability to research (Houghton et al., 2013; Lincoln & Guba, 1985). In conducting research about business leaders and managers of downsizing events, my search for answers to employee productivity cannot violate the terms of participants' confidentiality in the research. Studies that include confidentiality may help business leaders and managers feel confident in answering freely, which added to the trustworthiness of the study (Keller & Casadevall-Keller, 2010).

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this single case study was to determine strategies business leaders can use to enable retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction. In-depth, open-ended interviews afforded participants the opportunity to open up about their experience with downsizing. Data collection consisted of face-to-face interviews with business leaders, a focus group of managers, and documentation on downsizing. Analysis of data occurred using thematic coding in Microsoft Excel.

The interview questions aligned with the research question, member checking occurred, triangulation of data with the use of multiple sources of data, purposeful sampling, peer scrutiny, and thick descriptions added trustworthiness to the research process.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

Despite negative results, US leaders continue to use downsizing with an adverse impact on the retained employees (Lakshman, Ramaswami, Alas, Kabongo, & Pandian, 2014). The purpose of this qualitative case study was to explore the strategies business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction. The participants in this study identified strategies leadership used to motivate employees to be productive after a downsizing event in their organization. The four emergent themes from the body of data pertained to organizational communication, leadership, employee motivation, and work-life balance.

Presentation of the Findings

The data collection consisted of a set of interviews with two business leaders and a focus group of five managers. The data from in-depth, semistructured interviews involving questions about the topic led to the process of answering the overarching research question: "What strategies do business leaders use to motivate retained employees to be productive following a workforce reduction?" The participants spoke freely about their experiences with downsizing and were allowed to excuse themselves at any point, even after the conclusion of the member checking, to withdraw from the study. No participant withdrew. The multiple sources of data contributed equally to findings of the study. All participants answered each interview question and data collection continued until data saturation occurred. I subsequently entered the transcribed data from the individual interviews and focus group onto a Microsoft Excel spreadsheet. The

spreadsheet enabled me to organize, group, and code clusters of words and phrases. From those clusters, themes emerged from the data.

The clustering of phrases and words from the data led to four main themes pertaining to:

- organizational communication
- leadership
- employee motivation
- work-life balance

The first theme from the data was about how leadership in organizations carried out their communication. The second theme that emerged from the data pertained to the role leadership plays in downsizing. The third theme to develop from the data was about how leadership viewed the motivation of employees compared to how the employees viewed self-motivation. The fourth and final theme that emerged from the data pertained to the lack of a work and life balance for leadership and the employees.

Theme 1: Organizational Communication

The first theme that developed from the data pertained to organizational communication. This aligned with Gandolfi's (2013) statement that open and honest communication by leadership in organizations is vital to the overall success of a downsizing. All of the focus group participants and the two business leaders had a negative view about the concept of how their leaders communicated about downsizing. When probed further to explain their responses, there was a clear recollection of communication occurring; however, their answers were neutral in regards to how those

communications were either positive or negative. For example, BL2 stated only "We had a separate set of instructions and training on how to address those employees so they would not feel that they were hanging out." The response by BL2 indicates that their leader said something but it was impersonally delivered when directed at the person they were talking to about the downsizing.

Both BL1 and BL2 emphasized that it was important to have communications from leadership to explain something was happening. This aligns with early recommendations that positive communication in organizations by leadership can offset negative events such as downsizing (Jiang & Probst, 2014). Leaders can miss the side effects of what they perceive as positive messages from business leaders when they are carrying out downsizing. L4 stated an awareness of this difference in discussing the value of the communication, stating:

I was involved in a downsizing that I did not think was handled very well, and that was you know working in an office and one day going to work and getting the severance letter and somebody saying we don't have a job for you anymore. (L4, personal communication, July 9, 2015)

From the standpoint of BL1 and BL2, simply communicating a message on downsizing was enough; however, when speaking to the focus group, 3 out of 5 participants described negative perceptions of scripted directives related to downsizing. A scripted method of delivery for downsizing news was seen by the focus group participants as insincere and perceived by the remaining employees as causing low morale. This aligns with previous research identifying a need for leadership to start communication at the top

and cascade it down continuously to deliver the message for a positive outcome (Buell-Hirsch, 2014).

When business leaders and participants of the focus group received communication about downsizing, the responses from all participants indicated that they received the downsizing message in a negative manner. However, when the topic changed to how they delivered the message, the responses indicated a positive response. BL1 emphasized their efforts with communication were to unite the remaining employees:

I had to stand in front of these folks and say I hope we made the right decision. We may not have, but with your help, we will get over it, we'll adjust, add here take away there, we'll get the combination right. (BL1, personal communication, June 19, 2015)

L1 recounted similar efforts to create positive communications:

I wasn't really shocked; you know I kind of had that feeling. I was asked whether I wanted to stay in the room when they talked to the employee, and I said yes I do - they read it right off a piece of paper, no humanity involved in it. That is why I wanted to be there and when they got to that point, I had my arms around her so she would know there was some humanity there. (L1, personal communication, July 9, 2015)

These actions are significant because negative leadership behavior tends to lead to poor cohesiveness within work groups (Smith, Arthur, Hardy, Callow, & Williams,

2013). There were examples from participants that indicated they were attempting positive communication. BL2 remarked on the communication of downsizing, sayin,

It is always better to me personally if you can attempt those cases face-to-face rather than over the phone. I had to release some folks over the phone. So, that was not a pleasant experience but as far as the process itself, it was, it seemed to be well developed and well executed. (BL2, personal communication, June 22, 2015)

The responses from the leadership in the study indicated there is a conscientious effort to have positive communications, despite the negative outcomes. L3 from the focus group stated "I could see the hurt and the pain on their face too - it wasn't easy for them when leadership delivered the downsizing news." This positive communication between two parties is important because it increases the likeliness of accomplishing goals (Kuhn, 2012).

This positive communication was the prevailing consensus from the majority of participants' answers. Positive communication between employees and within organizations often leads to personal and organizational growth (Hynes, 2012). The participating business leaders stated that they used positive speech in their responses to deliver the negative news. Matovic, Koch, and Forgas (2014) support positive communication in their study by showing the mood at the time of the communication delivery impacts the message. Table 2 shows the breakdown of the number of occurrences of negative communication and the number of positive communications from

business leaders. The tabulations were done by me after the data was transcribed and analyzed from all the interviews.

Table 2

Occurrences of Negative and Positive Communication

Participant	Positive Communications	Negative Communications
BL1	18	8
BL2	8	3

In the first theme, the business leader participants indicated that their organizational communication was positive. In contrast, the focus group participants expressed their opinion that this same communication from their business leader was impersonal and not direct enough. Successful communication within an organization can open up ideas and lead to organizational and personal growth (Conrad & Newberry, 2012). This theme reinforces earlier research showing that leadership's communication at a time of downsizing is important. This theme aligns with Claeys and Cauberghe's (2014) study about crisis communication, which showed that if there is participation in the communication, then employees are more likely to see the organization in a positive way. This evidence suggests that business leaders should include employees in all phases of communication when communicating downsizing initiatives.

Theme 2: Leadership

Findings pertaining to the second theme showed that both the business leaders and focus group of managers described leadership as a crucial component. Leadership works

to develop missions and high-performance teams within organizations (Bolton, Brunnermeier, & Veldkamp, 2013). When talking about downsizing, the challenge can be even greater for leaders to accomplish those goals compared to if downsizing did not occur. McDevitt et al.'s (2013) study showed on downsizing victims and survivors management's responsiveness to the needs of the survivors and victims. McDevitt et al.'s results showed leadership tended to aid survivors more than victims after downsizing. While leadership has to make the right decision on who to keep and who to downsize, that does not always happen. BL1 explained "You know this is not getting done and the guy or girl that used to do that - we let them go - and we did not know that it was not part of the plan."

Managers tasked with making an organization successful after a downsizing believed the same as the business leaders. For example, L2 remarked about being on both sides of a downsizing event, commenting, "I think being on that side, I had a lot of sympathy - not sympathy, but respect for how we did the process." Regardless of how downsizing occurs, leadership has to make a success out of what is left. BL2 thought it was important to work as a team. BL2 stated "A little sense of pride, like we did on the last go around with the cultural beliefs, is the ownership piece that is the most important." BL2 continued to explain by saying, "so I drew quite a bit of the ownership of and the teamwork of the people that I worked with."

Leadership trying to get the most out of employees by appealing to their higher needs is a component of transformational leadership (Burns, 1978). Leadership's actions are important; however, the way leaders communicate are as important. In a time of

turmoil within organizations personal touch by their leaders, such as an in-person meeting, touches employees (Jiang & Probst, 2014). BL1 referred to reaching out directly to employees when BL1 stated "We tried to get feedback - we broke it up into different groups to get feedback loops built in to take the temperature, if you will, of the folks that were left." The empowerment of employees, even on the simplest level during conversational feedback, is beneficial to employees (Vaccaro et al., 2012). Leadership's focus on positive organizational attributes prior to a downsizing event could lead to surviving employee support after a downsizing event (French & Holden, 2012). Leadership's attention to organizational strengths and weaknesses prior to a downsizing event can help leadership guide an organization to be successful after a downsizing event.

The focus group participants viewed leadership positively in terms of how they thought they affected the overall outcome. Even in an instance during which L4 thought leadership poorly handled the announcement of downsizing, L4 indicated the leader's poor handling was due to lack of experience in downsizing. L3 indicated it was the corporation (not the business) that handled the downsizing. L2 communicated to the family that decisions were not personal, but were business decisions. Of the five participants in the focus group, three responded with a positive view of management although they viewed management as detached from the organization. Assisting employees to be ready for changes and an uncertain future is what leaders can do to maximize employees' levels of productivity (Rego, Sousa, Marques, & Cunha, 2014). The thoughts expressed by the majority of the focus group indicated leadership showed strong, authentic leadership traits by preparing the employees for contingencies,

consistent with reports by others (Černe, Jaklič, & Škerlavaj, 2013). With respect to this theme, participants spoke of the necessity for qualified and prepared leaders during a time of downsizing to guide them through the downsizing event. Table 3 includes how managers in the focus group viewed leaders that made decisions on downsizing.

Table 3

Views on Leadership by Focus Group

Participant Answers	n	% Total
Favored Leaderships Role	0	0.0%
Neutral on Leadership Role	1	25.0%
Negative on Leadership Role	3	75.0%

Leadership's ability to deliver a positive message in a time of crisis can lead to positive organizational outcomes (French & Holden, 2012). The leaders in the focus group expressed a negative view of their leaders during the downsizing event. According to the participants, the negative views of leadership were due to a lack of experience in downsizing. As a counter to that, BL2 expressed the experience exhibited in prior downsizing helped in the transition of the downsizing event. There is a difference in how business leaders who make downsizing decisions act and how managers perceive their actions.

In a study of physiological contracts, McDermott et al. (2013) stressed the need for leadership to relate to employees. As a strategy for motivating employees, business leaders can consider the relationship they have with the employees equal to or greater

than what they have with the organization. The results could be a better relationship between employees and leadership post downsizing, leading to better employee productivity.

Theme 3: Employee Motivation

Study results reported by Aisha and Hardjomidjojo (2013) were employees' motivation came from the perceptions of fairness and job security. Similar sentiments were prevalent in the data of this study, as many of the participants indicated they did not think they had job security or experienced fairness. L4, even after being rehired, left the company. L4 stated, "Even though they came back later and said that they had positions for us, I left the company at that time because I thought we were spiraling downward." L2, who had been a part of downsizing from both the decision-making part and the receiving part, indicated doubt in job security. L2 discussed in detail the thought of job insecurity, saying, "I can think of key people that I watched with this box, all their stuff in a box while they worked every day waiting to find out what was going to happen to them." L2's explanation of what they endured prior to and during the downsizing indicated there was a lack of confidence in job security.

Similarly, L3 stated thoughts about employees having done something wrong leading to downsizing. While there may have been a lack of confidence in job security, the answers by the participants did not indicate there was a problem with self-efficiency. Incentives lead to higher motivation among employees; motivated employees lead to increased productivity (Aisha & Hardjomidjojo, 2013). Even with the uncertainty of employment, all participants in the focus group were motivated to continue to do their

jobs and even other job functions to stay busy. Motivation and efficiency relate to each other but not all employees are motivated by financial incentives (Achim et al., 2013). L1 asked if there was more work to do, L4 worked as a receptionist when there was no other work. The motivation stemming from self-efficiency can be a strong indication the employees are aware of their value (Cherian & Jacob, 2013). Four of the five participants indicated that, despite their uncertain future with the organization, they had a strong work ethic and felt compelled to work until the end.

The business leaders answered favorably on the subject of self-efficiency. BL2 indicated that there was no resistance to increased roles after downsizing, a characteristic of self-efficiency. BL1 spoke of letting employees in traditional positions run their businesses with little guidance so leadership could focus on new areas of the business. It is confidence in employees by leaders that facilitates the type of self-efficiency that Achim et al. (2013) determined is motivating; in the study about motivation, nurturing personal skills such as self-management related to successful leaders. The responses by the business leaders in Achim et al.'s (2013) study indicated employees motivated by the idea of running their own business, who remained after the downsizing, kept their jobs. BL2 addressed the question of how employees were receptive to more work with a statement of "I think it was still a relief in most cases to have a job even though knowing that job there were expanded responsibilities." BL1 indicated self-efficient leaders needed to be picked to run the operations going forward. BL1 answered the question pertaining to increased workloads for employees; part of the response to the question included "We didn't keep all the leaders, but the ones we did keep, we felt were very

strong leaders and had a lot of influence over the group - had a lot of technical skills to run that company."

There is an apparent difference in perceptions between the participants of the focus group who were managers of retained employees and those business leaders who made the decisions during downsizing. The perceived differences between the two groups were that participants of the focus group believed their self-efficiency stemmed from their upbringing and the business leaders believed it came from their loyalty to the organization. The responses by the participants would indicate support for the literature that developing self-supportive employees empowers and encourages those employees to be productive. Positive reinforcement can be a predictor of organizational success (Santos, Hayward, & Ramos, 2012). In Table 4, I illustrate what motivates employees to be productive.

Table 4

Motivating Factors for Productivity within the Focus Group

Participant Answers	n	% Total
Motivated by Job Security	0	0.0%
Motivated by Work Ethics	3	75.0%
Not Motivated by Either	1	25.0%

A result of this study is the discovery of a gap between what motivates employees after a downsizing event and what leadership perceives to be motivating factors. The leaders in the focus group did not view motivation as job security but as work ethics. The

business leaders perceived motivation as job security. Study findings by Cherian and Jacob (2013) indicated employees with self-efficiency excelled personally and within their organizations. A strategy by business leaders could be to understand employees are self-motivated but need outside support to excel.

Theme 4: Work-Life Balance

Murthy and Guthrie (2012) conducted a narrative study on the benefits of work-life balance of employees of an Australian bank and emphasized work-life balance as an incentive provided by organizations. The telephony industry experienced fluctuations leading to pressure on business leaders to offer better work-life balance. According to a study by Pasamar and Cabrera (2013), market conditions and not organizational leaders dictate what leaders can do in offering work-life balances. Both business leaders in the study indicated that a work-life balance is an issue they have addressed. The difference is how each participant perceived a work-life balance. For example, BL1 stated:

They were not used to a 24/7 type. Their expectations were different in a lot of ways. They weren't used to working a lot, especially the area managers and managers. Some of the technicians, yes - they were used to working later hours, but the managers were not used to owning the operation. (BL1, personal communication, June 19, 2015)

BL1 added to the topic of working longer or different hours:

If you can't get it done 8-5, 5-8 we'll have to work so they understand that they also understand that it will always be like that and to keep giving them that vision

of hang in there it will get better, and it always did - it got better. (BL1, personal communication, June 19, 2015)

The response from BL1 indicated there is a clear message that working a standard shift or even having a work-life balance is probably not possible. There is an incentive to work towards such, but the work-life balance is not the norm. BL2 was more expressive about the existence of a work-life balance problem. BL2 said, "they feel like their work-life balance have gotten completely out of kilter, and I am working with them on how to address that."

Both business leaders indicated there is a problem with work-life balance; however, there was a difference in agreement about whether this is a permanent or temporary problem. BL2 indicated there was a problem and there were efforts to fix it. By comparison, BL1 described new ways of doing business for many survivors of downsizing and they will have to realize they need to do what needs to be done. Business managers alone cannot enforce work-life balance initiatives; it takes action by human resource specialists and organizational leaders (McCarthy, Cleveland, Hunter, Darcy, & Grady, 2013). A study by Todd and Binns (2013) revealed that work-life balance initiatives in Australia often failed because decisions by one group (such as human resources) were made to implement initiatives but remained unsupported. Employees who have a work-life balance show a greater level of organizational commitment (Caillier, 2013). An effective strategy by leadership would be to understand employees' organizational commitment, post-downsizing, to try and make them more productive employees (Cording, Harrison, Hoskisson, & Jonsen, 2014).

The focus group participants were in complete agreement about the existence of a negative work-life balance. In the focus group, L3 described working from home but being downsized for the second time to a downgraded job in which work stayed in the office. About a work-life balance as a manager, L4 said, "I was a manager for seven years, and my work-life balance was terrible and being a single person I didn't have any life outside of work. It was taking work home all the time." L1 emphasized there were other possibilities for not having a negative work and life balance:

I walk out the door, I don't know if it was the health scare or the generation or whatever, I leave it at the door. And very rarely, when I am driving home some things will go through my mind and questions I couldn't answer and I will go 'oh, why didn't I try that or I am going to go in and ask that tomorrow.' But really I've gotten to the point where very very few times do I feel that anymore. I just don't. I think it's part of the RIF, the health scare, I think it's part of where I am in my life. (L1, personal communication, July 9, 2015)

Both groups of participants recognized there is an imbalance with work and life schedules; it is apparent the business leaders see the lack of work and life balance as a necessity of doing business. The managers see the opposite, and L1 and L4 have taken steps to bring balance back. L2 described experiences of taking work home on the weekends and in the evenings to work from home. L2 indicated doing work for employees to ensure their work and life balance, saying, "I do my people's jobs - whatever it takes, we do it." There are strong indications employees may be moving to this imbalance in work and life as a way of doing business and not as an exception. After

the great recession of 2008, many companies reduced practices that led to a work-life balance (Gregory et al., 2013). Table 5 includes a summary of how participants responded to questions about a work-life balance. While there is agreement about not having a work-life balance, there does not seem to be any indication the trend will change in telecommunications.

Table 5

Views on Work-Life Balance From Focus Group and Business Leaders

Participant Answers	n	% of Total
Positive work life balance	0	0.0%
Negative work-life balance	8	100.0%

There is a difference between how upper management and first line managers view the challenge of implementing a work-life balance (Todd & Binns, 2013). In a study about implementing work-life balance policies, Todd and Binns (2013) presented evidence of an implementation problem for first line management due to deadlines and a tighter schedule. They found that upper management saw a benefit in work-life balance but did have the challenge of implementing it, causing a gap in creating policies.

Leadership's willingness to consider the work-life balance of employees can foster innovation and increases organizational proficiency (Grawitch, Maloney, Barber, & Mooshegian, 2013). Leaders can use strategies from understanding how a positive work-life balance leads to a productive employee at work.

Business Systems

After analyzing the data from the focus group and the individual business leader interviews, I triangulated the two data sources and four themes emerged from the data. The four themes pertained to (a) organizational communication, (b) leadership, (c) employee motivation, and (d) work life balance. Mirroring the conceptual framework of systems theory, the majority of participants emphasized the need for all parts to work together for success, similarly to how the themes revealed work together toward motivating employees after downsizing events. The emerging theme of work-life balance received stemmed from data offered by the focus group and the business leaders.

Grawitch et al. (2013) emphasized the relationship between a negative work-life balance and a negative effect on organizations.

Organizational leaders are tasked with implementing and succeeding in work-life balance initiatives (Todd & Binns, 2013). Business leaders in this study unanimously agreed a work-life balance issue exists, but were not sure how to correct it. A possible issue with employee feedback to business leaders could be fear of backlash. Groves and Larocca (2011) discussed the need for employees to make business leaders aware of their feelings through feedback. Meaningful communications during a time of change strengthens, not weakens, the bond formed by communication (McClellan, 2011).

There is a distinct relationship between the themes of this study and how they pertain to each other. Systems theory, as described by Johnson et al. (1964), is a series of smaller systems that make-up the whole system. The process of downsizing and

subsequently leading employees to be productive are dependent on all parts of the system, and with respect to the findings of the study, the themes working together.

Applications to Professional Practice

There is value in the findings of this study for business leaders in telecommunications companies in the northeast United States who are facing downsizing initiatives. The four emergent themes from this study pertained to organizational communication, leadership, employee motivation, and work-life balance. Reseachers looked upon downsizing as being a success or a failure, based on short-term and long-term financial outcomes (Iqbal & Haque, 2011; Laitinen, 2011; Scott et al., 2011). The conceptual framework of systems theory encompasses the use of smaller systems working together for the success of the larger system (Johnson et al., 1964). The themes found in this study mirror the same practical application; integrating the themes (smaller systems) may lead to the success of the whole system (organizations).

Understanding how all the different components within an organization work together strengthens the ability to optimize employee productivity; however, business leaders need to be able to use knowledge about employee productivity to create effective strategies (Cording et al., 2014). Business leaders can use the results of this study to add to their understanding of how the different parts of an organization work together.

How a message is delivered and received within an organization has a huge impact on the outcome of the organization's success (Neves & Eisenberger, 2012). Leadership's ability to deliver a clear message and sensitivity to employees' well-being are strategies that can foster successful survivor productivity (Kinder, 2014). Data

forming the themes of this study revealed the possibility that policy changes by leadership might lead to improved survivor productivity.

Implications for Social Change

Downsizing can have a negative effect on employee commitment leading to a reduction in employee productivity (Razzaq et al., 2013). Downsizing can affect organizations, employees, and families in a negative way. There were 243 mass layoffs in the public utility field in 2014 contributing to lower living standards, health issues, and lack of employment (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor and Statistics, 2014). Results of this study (a) contribute to the understanding of how employees think after a downsizing, (b) how information is communicated from leadership down to employees, and (c) the work-life balance of employees tasked with more work after downsizing. The findings in this study indicate a better work-life balance for employees can lead to greater organizational commitment by the employees. Organizations, employees, and communities may benefit from the results of this study on the productivity of retained employees after a workforce reduction. Employees who experience downsizing are concerned about unfairness and lack of commitment from leadership when viewed from a CSR standpoint (Lakshman et al., 2014). A lack of commitment by employees towards their job could relate to a negative work-life balance (Caillier, 2013).

The results of the study, stemming from responses by the participants on downsizing from the in-depth interviews, can aid leadership in the understanding of the human behavior aspects of employees. Happy employees are productive employees, leading to organizational success; communities benefit from having successful

organizations. The responses from the business leaders interviewed and a focus group of managers indicated how an understanding of downsizing affects organizational outcomes and possibly leads to policy changes. The feedback from the focus group and business leaders added to the knowledge about strategies to direct retained employees. As indicated by the focus group, there is a strong need for work-life balance.

Recommendations for Action

There is an increasing amount of downsizing occurring in the telecommunications industry; the burdens to succeed as a result of downsizing on organizations, organizational leaders, and survivors are stressful, damaging to health, and often have negative effects on productivity (Phelps, 2013). It is important for business leaders to understand the negative effects of downsizing and the impact it has on their employees. As an insider researcher in the telecommunications industry, I feel it is imperative the message of strategies that motivate employees to be productive reach those business leaders tasked with making downsizing decisions.

Business leaders are encouraged to pay attention to the work-life balance of the surviving employees. As business leaders reduce workforces through downsizing, a greater amount of work and responsibility could be put on existing workers. The results of increased work could contribute to those surviving employees leaving for jobs with better work conditions (Malik et al., 2011). Business leaders can communicate with employees on all levels, prior to downsizing, to impart an understanding of the stresses employees have in their lives and work towards reducing the stressors.

The communication by business leaders can be used to bridge a better relationship

with employees before and after a downsizing (Grawitch et al., 2013). Open communication between leadership and employees can create understanding of what motivates employees to be productive. Organizational leadership and academics can disperse the results of this study through business literature such as peer-reviewed journals, conferences, and through classroom training within academia.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this qualitative single case study, the two main limitations were the location of the business in the northeast United States and the number of data sources used for analysis. Future research could be expanded to include other geographic locations.

Additionally, there may be difficulty in relating findings from participants in this study to different organizations. The two primary sources of data for this study included interviews with two business leaders and a focus group of managers.

The use of multiple sources of data adds to the in-depth understanding of a phenomenon (Denzin, 2012). Triangulation occurred using the two sources of data; however, additional sources such as other company documents and personal records of employees could have added more to the results of the research. A study by Iverson and Zatzick (2011) focused on the effects of downsizing on high performance teams. Even though they focused on organizations outside telecommunications and on high performance teams, they showed that attention to employee morale contributed to their productivity. Future researchers can focus on the morale of telecommunications employees and the effects on their productivity.

Reflections

My experience in the Doctorate of Business Administration program has allowed me to grow through a fuller understanding of downsizing and as a researcher. As an insider researcher, I did all I could to avoid researcher bias and conduct interviews with the proper protocol. I did know the participants, but had not worked with them at the time of the study.

I have been part of a downsizing, involved directly and indirectly. Through these experiences, I gained insight into how many employees may be personally affected by planning, executing, and following through with downsizing. I am now more aware of the importance of knowing how employees who survived a downsizing think about their jobs, leadership, and the employees around them. Understanding what employees go through during the process of downsizing can lead to a richer understanding of employee behavior and ultimately their productivity.

Summary and Study Conclusions

Implementing a downsizing event in telecommunications requires consideration of the victims of downsizing and the survivors. While communication developed as a theme in this study, there was a varying interpretation of the communication. Business leaders can focus more on how their communication is received instead of how they perceive their message to be received.

The business leaders and the managers from the focus group offered responses that indicated all four themes were important, but how they perceived the topics that emerged as thematic findings were different. For instance, the business leaders saw a loss

of work-life balance as a new way of doing business, while managers from the focus group took steps to bring more balance in their lives. When beginning a downsizing event, strategic business leaders can consider ways to bring about a work-life balance for the surviving employees.

References

- Abdul, Q. C., & Javed, H. (2012). Impact of transactional and laissez faire leadership style on motivation. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3, 258-364. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/update/
- Achim, I. M., Dragolea, L., & Balan, G. (2013). The importance of employee motivation to increase organizational performance. *Annales Universitatis Apulensis*: *Series Oeconomica*, *15*, 685-691. Retrieved from http://www.oeconomica.uab.ro/index.php?p=home&l=ro
- Aisha, A. N., & Hardjomidjojo, P. (2013). Effects of working ability, working condition, motivation and incentive on employees' multi-dimensional performance.
 International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology, 4, 605-609.
 doi:10.7763/IJIMT.2013.V4.470
- Albrecht, L. S. (2012). The influence of job, team and organizational level resources on employee well-being, engagement, commitment and extra-role performance: Test of a model. *International Journal of Manpower*, *33*, 840-853. doi:10.1108/01437721211268357
- Ali, A. M., & Yusof, H. (2011). Quality in qualitative studies: The case of validity, reliability and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5(1/2), 25-64. Retrieved from http://isea.icseard.uns.ac.id
- Allwood, C. M. (2012). The distinction between qualitative and quantitative research methods is problematic. *Quality and Quantity*, *46*, 1417-1429. doi:10.1007/s11135-011-9455-8

- Alrawi, K., Hamdan, Y., Al-Taie, W., & Ibrahim, M. (2013). Organizational culture and the creation of a dynamic environment for knowledge sharing. *International Journal of Management & Innovation*, *5*(1), 1-11. doi:10.5251/ajsms.2011.2.3.258.264
- Amerson, R. (2011). Making a case for the case study method. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 50, 427-428. doi:10.3928.01484834-20110719-01
- Asheim, B. T., Smith, H. L., & Oughton, C. (2011). Regional innovation systems:

 Theory, empirics and policy. *Regional Studies*, 45, 875-891.

 doi:10.1080/00343404.2011.596701
- Avery, G. C., & Bergsteiner, H. (2011). Sustainable leadership practices for enhancing business resilience and performance. *Strategy & Leadership*, 39(3), 5-15. doi:10.1108/10878571111128766
- Bakotic, D., & Babic, T. (2013). Relationship between working conditions and job satisfaction: The case of Croatian shipbuilding company. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4, 207-213. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/update/
- Barbour, A. (2010, June). Exploring some ethical dilemmas and obligations of the ethnographer. *Ethnography and Education*, *5*(2), 159-173. doi:10.1080/17457823.2010.493399
- Baruah, P., & Barthakur, B. (2012). Employees' attitude: Performance and satisfaction.

 **SCMS Journal of Indian Management*, 9(3), 30-42. Retrieved from http://www.scmsgroup.org/scmsjim/about-us.html

- Barusch, A., Gringeri, C., & George, M. (2011). Rigor in qualitative social work research: A review of strategies used in published articles. *Social Work Research*, *35*(1), 11-19. doi:10.1093/swr/35.1.11
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Transformational leadership and organizational culture. *International Journal of Public Administration*, *17*, 541-554. doi:10.1080/01900699408524907
- Basu, P., & Parveen, A. (2012). The employee perspective in lean environment.

 *Drishtikon: A Management Journal, 3(1), 1-25. Retrieved from http://www.publishingindia.com/drishtikon/
- Bekhet, A. K., & Zauszniewski, J. A. (2012). Methodological triangulation: An approach to understanding data. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(2), 40-43. doi:10.7748/nr2012.11.20.2.40.c9442
- Bendassolli, P. (2013). Theory building in qualitative research: Reconsidering the problem of induction. *Forum: Qualitative Social Research Sozialforschuyng*, 14(1), 1-20. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net/index.php/fqs
- Bernard, H. R. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches (2nd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Ltd.
- Bernerth, J. B., Walker, H., & Harris, S. G. (2011). Change fatigue: Development and initial validation of a new measure. *Work & Stress*, 25, 321-337. doi:10.1080/02678373.2011.634280
- Bhat, B. A., Verma, N., Rangnekar, S., & Barua, M. K. (2012). Leadership style and team processes as predictors of organisational learning. *Team Performance*

- Management, 18, 347-369. doi:10.1108/13527591211281101
- Birasnav, M., Rangnekar, S., & Dalpati, A. (2011). Transformational leadership and human capital benefits: The role of knowledge management. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 32, 106-126.

 doi:10.1108/01437731111112962
- Boblin, S. L., Ireland, S., Kirkpatrick, H., & Robertson, K. (2013). Using Stake's qualitative case study approach to explore implementation of evidence-based practice. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23, 1267-1275. doi:1049732313502128.
- Bolton, P., Brunnermeier, M. K., & Veldkamp, L. (2013). Leadership, coordination, and corporate culture. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 80, 512-537. doi: 10.1093/restud/rds041
- Boniface, M., & Rashmi, M. (2012). Outsourcing: Mass layoffs and displaced workers' experiences. *Management Research Review*, *35*, 1029-1045. doi:10.1108/01409171211276927
- Boyatzis, R. E. (1998). Transforming qualitative information: Thematic analysis and code development. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Bragger, J. D., Kutcher, E. J., Menier, A., Sessa, V. I., & Sumner, K. (2013). Giving nonselective downsizing a performance review. *Human Resource Development Review*, *13*, 58-78. doi:1534484313492331
- Branthwaite, A., & Patterson, S. (2011). The power of qualitative research in the era of social media. *Qualitative Market Research*, *14*, 430-440. doi:10.1108/13522751111163245

- Braun, M., & Latham, S. (2012). Pulling off the comeback: Shrink, expand, neither, both? *Journal of Business Strategy*, 33(3), 13-21. doi:10.1108/02756661211224960
- Braun, S., Peus, C., Weisweiler, S., & Frey, D. (2013). Transformational leadership, job satisfaction, and team performance: A multilevel mediation model of trust.

 *Leadership Quarterly, 24, 270-283. doi:10.1016/j.leaqua.2012.11.006
- Bredmar, K. (2013). Asking the right question: The craft of formulating a purpose and an aim for a research paper. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 4(2), 21-28. Retrieved from http://www.ijbssnet.com/
- Brown, W., & May, D. (2012). Organizational change and development: The efficacy of transformational leadership training. *Journal of Management Development*, 31, 520-536. doi:10.1108/02621711211230830
- Buell-Hirsch, P. (2014). Whither the bully pulpit: Leadership communications and corporate transformation. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *35*(6), 66-70. doi:10.1108/JBS-09-2014-0113
- Burns, C. S., & Bossaller, J. (2012). Communication overload: A phenomenological inquiry into academic reference librarianship. *Journal of Documentation*, 68, 597-617. doi:10.1108/00220411211255996
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Cachia, M., & Millward, L. (2011). The telephone medium and semi-structured interviews: A complementary fit. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management*, 6, 265-277. doi:10.1108/17465641111188420

- Caillier, J. G. (2013). Satisfaction with work-life benefits and organizational commitment/job involvement is there a connection? *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 33, 340-364, doi:10.1177/0734371X12443266
- Cameron, R. (2011a). Mixed methods research: The five Ps framework. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 9, 96-108. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com/main.html
- Cameron, K. (2011b). Responsible leadership as virtuous leadership. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 98, 25-35. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1023-6
- Cashen, L. H. (2011). Board leadership structure under fire: CEO duality in the post-restructuring period. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, 101, 101-119.

 Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Casimir, G., Lee, K., & Loon, M. (2012). Knowledge sharing: Influences of trust, commitment and cost. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *16*, 740-753. doi:10.1108/13673271211262781
- Černe, M., Jaklič, M., & Škerlavaj, M. (2013). Authentic leadership, creativity, and innovation: A multilevel perspective. *Leadership*, 9(1), 63-85. doi:10.1177/1742715012455130
- Chaudhry, A. Q., Javed, H., & Sabir, M. (2012). The impact of transformational and transactional leadership styles on the motivation of employees in Pakistan.

 *Pakistan Economic and Social Review, 50, 223-231. Retrieved from http://pu.edu.pk/home/journal/7
- Cherian, J., & Jacob, J. (2013). Impact of self-efficacy on motivation and performance of

- employees. *International Journal of Business & Management*, 8, 80-88. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v8n14p80
- Cheung, M. F., & Wong, C. S. (2011). Transformational leadership, leader support, and employee creativity. *Leadership and Organization Development Journal*, *32*, 656-672. doi:10.1108/01437731111169988
- Chipunza, C., & Sameul, M. O. (2013). Effect of role clarity and work overload on perceptions of justice and job insecurity after downsizing. *Journal of Social Science*, 32(3), 243-253. Retrieved from http://www.krepublishers.com
- Claeys, A. S., & Cauberghe, V. (2014). What makes crisis response strategies work? The impact of crisis involvement and message framing. *Journal of Business**Research*, 67, 182-189. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.10.005
- Claver-Cortés, E., Pertusa-Ortega, E. M., & Molina-Azorín, J. F. (2012). Characteristics of organizational structure relating to hybrid competitive strategy: Implications for performance. *Journal of Business Research*, 65, 993-1002. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2011.04.012
- Closs, D. J., Speier, C., & Meacham, N. (2011). Sustainability to support end-to-end value chains: The role of supply chain management. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, *39*, 101-116. doi:10.1007/s11747-010-0207-4
- Coldwell, D. D., Joosub, T. T., & Papageorgiou, E. E. (2012). Responsible leadership in organizational crises: An analysis of the effects of public perceptions of selected SA business organizations' reputations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 133-144. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1110-8

- Collinson, D. (2012). Prozac leadership and the limits of positive thinking. *Leadership*, 8, 87-107. doi:10.1177/1742715011434738
- Conrad, D., & Newberry, R. (2012). Identification and instruction of important business communication skills for graduate business education. *Journal of Education for Business*, 87(2), 112-120. doi:10.1080/08832323.2011.576280
- Conran, M. (2011). They really love me: Intimacy in volunteer tourism. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *38*, 1454-1473. doi:0.1016/j.annals.2011.03.014
- Cording, M., Harrison, J. S., Hoskisson, R. E., & Jonsen, K. (2014). Walking the talk: A multistakeholder exploration of organizational authenticity, employee productivity, and post-merger performance. *The Academy of Management Perspectives*, 28(1), 38-56. doi:10.5465/amp.2013.0002
- Corner, P. D. (2002). An integrative model for teaching quantitative research design. *Journal of Management Education*, 26, 671-692. doi:10.1177/1052562902238324
- Crowe, S., Cresswell, K., Robertson, A., Huby, G., Avery, A., & Sheikh, A. (2011). The case study approach. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 11(1), 100. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-11-100
- Csaszar, F. A. (2012). Organizational structure as a determinant of performance:

 Evidence from mutual funds. *Strategic Management Journal*, *33*, 611-632.

 doi:10.1002/smj.1969
- Damianakis, T., & Woodford, M. R. (2012). Qualitative research with small connected communities generating new knowledge while upholding research ethics. *Qualitative Health Research*, 22, 708-718.

- Da Mota-Pedrosa, A., Näslund, D., & Jasmand, C. (2012). Logistics case study based research: Towards higher quality. *International Journal of Physical Distribution* & *Logistics Management*, 42, 275-295. doi:10.1108/09600031211225963
- Davidson, P., & Page, K. (2012). Research participation as work: Comparing the perspectives of researchers and economically marginalized populations. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, 1254-1259. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300418
- Day, K. M., Armenakis, A. A., Feild, H. S., & Norris, D. R. (2012). Other organizations are doing it, why shouldn't we? A look at downsizing and organizational identity through an institutional theory lens. *Journal of Change Management*, 12, 165-188. doi:10.1080/14697017.2012.662992
- Denzin, N. K. (1970). The research act: A theoretical introduction to sociological methods. Chicago, IL: Aldine.
- Denzin, N. K. (2012). Triangulation 2.0. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6(2), 80-88. doi:10.1177?1558689812437186.
- Diez-Roux, A. V. (2011). Complex systems thinking and current impasses in health disparities research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101, 1627-1634. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300149
- Doz, Y. (2011). Qualitative research for international business. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 42, 582-590. doi:1057/jibs.2011.18
- Draper, A., & Swift, J. A. (2011). Qualitative research in nutrition and dietetics: Data collection issues. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*, 24(1), 3-12.

- doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2010.01117.x
- DuBois, J.M., Beskow, L., Campbell, J., Dugosh, K., Festinger, D., Hartz, S., & Lidz, C. (2012). Restoring balance: A consensus statement on the protection of vulnerable research participants. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102, 2220-2225. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300757
- Dwyer, J. D., & Arbelo, M. (2012). The role of social cognition in downsizing decisions, *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27(4), 383-405.

 doi:10.1108/02683941211220199
- Eccles, R. G., Perkins, K. M., & Serafeim, G. (2012). How to become a sustainable company. *MIT Sloan Management Review*, *53*(4), 43-50. Retrieved from http://sloanreview.mit.edu/
- Echambadi, R., Campbell, B., & Agarwal, R. (2012). Encouraging best practice in quantitative management research: An incomplete list of opportunities. *Journal of Management Studies*, 23, 801-820. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2006.00660.x
- Edwards, G., & Gill, R. (2012). Transformational leadership across hierarchical levels in UK manufacturing organizations. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 33(1), 22-50. doi:10.1108/01437731211193106
- Eisenbeiß, S. A., & Boerner, S. (2013). A double-edged sword: Transformational leadership and individual creativity. *British Journal of Management*, 24(1), 54-68. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2011.00786.x
- Flick, U., Garms-Homolová, V., Herrmann, W. J., Kuck, J., & Röhnsch, G. (2012). I can't prescribe something just because someone asks for it: Using mixed methods

- in the framework of triangulation. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 6(2), 97-110. doi:1558689812437183.
- Flint, D., Maher, E., & Wielemaker, M. (2012). Downsizing decisions, intellectual capital, and accounting information. *Journal of Human Resource Costing & Accounting*, *16*(3), 168-183. doi:10.1108/14013381211286351
- Fraher, A. L. (2013). Airline downsizing and its impact on team performance. *Team Performance Management*, 19, 109-126. doi:10.1108/13527591311312123
- Francis, J. J., Johnston, M., Robertson, C., Glidewell, L., Entwistle, V., Eccles, M. P., & Grimshaw, J. M. (2010). What is an adequate sample size? Operationalising data saturation for theory-based interview studies. *Psychology & Health*, 25, 1229-1245. doi:10.1080/08870440903194015
- French, S. L., & Holden, T. (2012). Positive organizational behavior: A buffer for bad news. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 75, 208-220. doi:10.1177/1080569912441823
- Gandolfi, F. (2013). Workforce downsizing: Strategies, archetypes, approaches and tactics. *Journal of Management Research*, *13*(2), 67-76. Retrieved from http://www.macrothink.org/journal/index.php/jmr
- Gandolfi, F., & Hansson, M. (2011). Causes and consequences of downsizing: Towards an integrative framework. *Journal of Management and Organization*, *17*, 498-521. doi:10.5172/jmo.2011.17.4.498
- Gandolfi, F., & Littler, R.C. (2012). Downsizing is dead long live the downsizing phenomenon: Conceptualizing the phases of cost-cutting. *Journal of Management*

- and Organization, 18, 334-345. doi:10.5172/jmo.2012.2244
- Geiger, D., & Schreyögg, G. (2012). Narratives in knowledge sharing: Challenging validity. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, *16*, 97-113. doi:10.1108/13673271211198963
- Gibbert, M., & Ruigrok, W. (2010). The what and how of case study rigor: Three strategies based on published work. *Organizational Research Methods*, *13*, 710-737. doi:10.1177/1094428109351319
- Goldblatt, H., Karnieli-Miller, O., & Neumann, M. (2011). Sharing qualitative research findings with participants: Study experiences of methodological and ethical dilemmas. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 82, 389-395. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2010.12.016
- Gong, B., & Greenwood, R. A. (2012). Organizational memory, downsizing, and information technology: A theoretical inquiry. *International Journal of Management*, 29(3), 99-109. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofmanagement.co.uk/
- Goulding, C. (2002). *Grounded theory*. London, England: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781849209236.n2
- Grant, A. M. (2012). Leading with meaning: Beneficiary contact, prosocial impact, and the performance effects of transformational leadership. *Academy of Management Journal*, *55*, 458-476. doi:10.5465/amj.2010.0588

- Grawitch, M. J., Maloney, P. W., Barber, L. K., & Mooshegian, S. E. (2013). Examining the nomological network of satisfaction with work–life balance. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *18*, 276. doi:10.1037/a032754
- Gregory, A., Milner, S., & Windebank, J. (2013). Work-life balance in times of economic crisis and austerity. *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, *33*, 528-541. Retrieved from http://www.emeraldinsight.com/journal/ijssp
- Groves, K. S., & Larocca, M. A. (2011). An empirical study of leader ethical values, transformational and transactional leadership, and follower attitudes toward corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *103*, 511-528. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0877-y
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., & Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough? An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods*, *18*(1), 59-82. doi:10.1177/1525822X05279903
- Guo, C., & Giacobbe-Miller, J. (2012). Understanding survivors' reactions to downsizing in China. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 27(1), 27-47. doi:10.1108/02683941211193848
- Güth, W., & Paul, C. (2011). Downsizing the labor force by low and high profit firms:

 An experimental analysis. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, 1, 2-17.

 Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/jms
- Hajkrová, R., & Pálka, L. (2011). Impact of economic crisis to behavior of companies towards employees depending on company size and orientation. *Journal of Economics & Management Strategy*, 1, 516-520. Retrieved from

- http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1111/%28ISSN%291530-9134
- Hannah, S. T., Walumba, F. O., & Fry, L. W. (2011). Leadership in action teams: Team leader and member's authenticity, authenticity strength, and team outcomes.

 Personnel Psychology, 64, 771-802. doi:10.1111./j.1744-6570.2011.01225.x
- Hansen, H. (2011). Managing to beat death: The narrative construction process. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 24, 442-463.

 doi:10.1108/09534811111144610
- Hanson, J. L., Balmer, D. F., & Giardino, A. P. (2011). Qualitative research methods for medical educators. *Academic Pediatrics*, 11, 375-386.doi:10.1016/j.acap.2011.05.001
- Harris, K., Collinson, C., & das Nair, R. (2012). Service-users' experiences of an early intervention in psychosis service: An interpretative phenomenological analysis.
 Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 85, 456-469.
 doi:10.1111/j.2044-8341.2011.02043.x
- Heydari, A., Danesh, E., Jamehshooran, B., & Teimouri, M. (2011). DPI and its impacts on employee's productivity. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, *3*, 577-584. Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com/
- Heywood, J. S., Siebert, W. S., & Wei, X. (2011). Estimating the use of agency workers:

 Can family-friendly practices reduce their use? *Industrial Relations*, 50, 535-564.

 doi:10.1111/j.1468-232X.2011.00645.x
- Hoflund, A. B. (2013). Exploring the use of grounded theory as a methodological approach to examine the "black box" of network leadership in the national quality

- forum. *Journal of Health & Human Services Administration*, *4*, 469-504. Retrieved from http://www.spaef.com/jhhsa.php
- Homburg, C., Klarmann, M., & Staritz, S. (2012). Customer uncertainty following downsizing: The effects of extent of downsizing and open communication. *Journal of Marketing*, 76(3), 112-130. doi:10.1509/jm.09.0486
- Hotho, J. J. (2014). From typology to taxonomy: A configurational analysis of national business systems and their explanatory power. *Organization Studies*, *35*, 671-702. doi:10.1177/0170840613502767
- Houghton, C., Casey, D., Shaw, D., & Murphy, K. (2013). Rigour in qualitative case-study research. *Nurse Researcher*, 20(4), 12-17. Retrieved from http://nurseresearcher.rcnpublishing.co.uk
- Howell, J. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1993). Transformational leadership, transactional leadership, locus of control, and support for innovation: Key predictors of consolidated-business-unit performance. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78, 891-902. doi:10.1037/0021-9010.78.6.891
- Hsiung, H. (2012). Authentic leadership and employee voice behavior: A multi-level psychological process. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 107, 349-361. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-1043-2
- Hughes, M. (2011). Do 70 per cent of all organizational change initiatives really fail?

 Journal of Change Management, 11, 451-464.

 doi:10.1080/14697017.2011.630506
- Hvalvik, S., & Reierson, I. (2011). Transition from self-supported to supported living:

- Older people's experiences. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 6(4), 1-9. doi:10.3402/qhw.v6i4.7914
- Hynes, G. E. (2012). Improving employees' interpersonal communication competencies:

 A qualitative study. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 75, 466-475.

 doi:10.1177/1080569912458965
- Ihantola, E., & Kihn, L. (2011). Threats to validity and reliability in mixed methods accounting research. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 8, 39-58. doi:10.1108/1176609111114694
- Iqbal, Z., & Haque, M. A. (2011). Mass layoffs and industrial production: An analysis of monthly data in the manufacturing sectors. *Journal of Financial and Economic Practice*, 11, 9-19. Retrieved from http://jfep.bradley.edu
- Iverson, R. D., & Zatzick, C. D. (2011). The effects of downsizing on labor productivity:

 The value of showing consideration for employees' morale and welfare in highperformance work systems. *Human Resource Management*, 50, 29-44.

 doi:10.1002/hrm.20407
- Jabar, M. A., Sidi, F., Selamat, M. H., Ghani, A., Ibrahim, H., & Baharom, S. (2011).
 Capturing tacit knowledge for assessing employees' competency and productivity.
 American Journal of Economics and Business Administration, 3, 358-362.
 doi:10.3844/ajebasp.2011.358.362
- Jiang, L., & Probst, T. M. (2014). Organizational communication: A buffer in times of job insecurity? *Economic and Industrial Democracy*, 35, 557-579. doi:10.1177/0143831X13489356

- Johnson, R. A., Kast, F. E., & Rosenzweig, J. E. (1964). System theory and management.

 Management Science, 10, 367-384. doi:10.2307/2282763
- Jonsen, K., & Jehn, K. A. (2009). Using triangulation to validate themes in qualitative studies. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal*, 4(2), 123-150. doi:10.1108/17465640910978391
- Kaine, G., & Cowan, L. (2011). Using general systems theory to understand how farmers manage variability. Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 28, 231-244. doi:10.1002/sres.1073
- Kapoulas, A., & Mitic, M. (2012). Understanding challenges of qualitative research:Rhetorical issues and reality traps. *Qualitative Market Research*, 15, 354-368.doi:10.1108/13522751211257051
- Karkoulian, S., Mukaddam, W., McCarthy, R., & Messara, C. M. (2013). Job insecurity:
 A whirlpool of chronic powerlessness. *Education, Business and Society:* Contemporary Middle Eastern Issues, 6, 55-70. doi:10.1108/17537981311314727
- Kawai, N. (2011, October). Does downsizing really matter? Evidence from Japanese multinationals in the European manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 26, 501-519. doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.616525
- Keller, K. D., & Casadevall-Keller, M. (2010). *In the Tao of research: A path to validity*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Kemal, M., & Shahid, S. (2012). Mergers, acquisitions and downsizing: Evidence from a financial sector. *Global Business & Management Research*, 4, 112-122. Retrieved from http://www.gbmr.ioksp.com/

- Kihlström, A. (2012). Luhmann's system theory in social work: Criticism and reflections. *Journal of Social Work*, *12*(3), 287-299. doi:10.1177/1468017310386425
- Kim, Y. (2011). The pilot study in qualitative inquiry: Identifying issues and learning lessons for culturally competent research. *Qualitative Social Work*, 10, 190-206. doi:10.1177/1473325010362001
- Kinder, A. (2014). Supporting redundancy "survivors". *Occupational Health*, 66(2), 21.

 Retrieved from http://joh.sanei.or.jp/e/
- Ko, J. R., & Yeh, Y. (2013). Worker satisfaction following employment restructuring: Effects of nonstandard workers and downsizing on job satisfaction in Taiwan. Social Indicators Research, 110, 453-467. doi:10.1007/s11205-011-9937-z
- Kool, M., & van Dierendonck, D. (2012). Servant leadership and commitment to change:The mediating role of justice and optimism. *Journal of Organizational ChangeManagement*, 25, 422-433. doi:10.1108/09534811211228139
- Korn, J. (2011). From the systemic view to systems science. *Kybernetes*, 40(1/2), 23-46. doi:10.1108/03684921111117915
- Kossek, E. E., Kalliath, T., & Kalliath, P. (2012). Achieving employee well-being in a changing work environment: An expert commentary on current scholarship.
 International Journal of Manpower, 33, 738-753.
 doi:10.1108/01437721211268294
- Krippendorff, K. (2011). Agreement and information in the reliability of coding.

 Communications Methods & Measures, 5(2), 93-112.

- Kuhn, T. (2012). Negotiating the micro-macro divide thought leadership from organizational communication for theorizing organization. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 26, 543-584. doi:10.1177/0893318912462004
- Kuo, T. (2011). How to improve organizational performance through learning and knowledge? *International Journal of Manpower*, 32, 581-603. doi:10.1108/01437721111158215
- Kyale, S. (2007). *Planning an interview study: Doing interviews*. London, England: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781849208963
- Laitinen, K. E. (2011). Effect of reorganization actions on the financial performance of small entrepreneurial distressed firms. *Journal of Accounting & Organizational Change*, 7, 57-95. doi:10.1108/18325911111125540
- Lakshman, C., Ramaswami, A., Alas, R., Kabongo, J. F., & Pandian, J. R. (2014). Ethics trumps culture? A cross-national study of business leader responsibility for downsizing and CSR perceptions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *125*(1), 101-119. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1907-8
- Levack, W. M., Dean, S. G., Siegert, R. J., & McPherson, K. M. (2011). Navigating patient-centered goal setting in inpatient stroke rehabilitation: How clinicians control the process to meet perceived professional responsibilities. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 85(2), 206-213. doi:10.1016/j.pec.2011.01.011
- Leveson, N. G. (2011). Applying systems thinking to analyze and learn from events. *Safety Science*, 49(1), 55-64. doi:10.1016/j.ssci.2009.12.021

- Levy, M. (2011). Knowledge retention: minimizing organizational business loss. *Journal of Knowledge Management*, 15, 582-600. doi:10.1108/13673271111151974
- Li, J., Kuo-Ting, H., & Tangpong, C. (2012). The role of agent conscientiousness and reciprocity norm in employee layoff decisions. *Management Research Review*, 35, 419-440. doi:10.1108/01409171211222377
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic inquiry*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Lindskog, M. (2012). Systems theory: Myth or mainstream? *Logistics Research*, 4(1-2), 63-81. doi:10.1007/s12159-011-0062-9
- Linke, A., & Zerfass, A. (2011). Internal communication and innovation culture:

 Developing a change framework. *Journal of Communication Management*, 15, 332-348. doi:10.1108/13632541111183361
- Lohle, M. F., & Terrell, S. R. (2014). Real projects, virtual worlds: Coworkers, their avatars, and the trust conundrum. *Qualitative Report*, *19*(8), 1-35. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/
- Luan, C. J., Tien, C., & Chi, Y. C. (2013). Downsizing to the wrong size? A study of the impact of downsizing on firm performance during an economic downturn.
 International Journal of Human Resource Management, 24, 1519-1535.
 doi:10.1080/09585192.2012.725073
- Lund, R., Nielsen, L. S., Henriksen, P. W., Schmidt, L., Avlund, K., & Christensen, U. (2014). Content validity and reliability of the Copenhagen Social Relations

 Questionnaire. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 26(1), 128-150.

- Magán-Díaz, A., & Céspedes-Lorente, J. (2012). Why are Spanish companies implementing downsizing? *Review of Business*, 32(2), 5-22. Retrieved from http://www.theibfr.com/rbfcs.htm
- Mahmoudsalehi, M., Moradkhannejad, R., & Safari, K. (2012). How knowledge management is affected by organizational structure. *Learning Organization*, 19, 518-528. doi:10.1108/09696471211266974
- Mainardes, E. W., Alves, H., & Raposo, M. (2011). Stakeholder theory: Issues to resolve. *Management Decision*, 49, 226-252. doi:10.1108/00251741111109133
- Malik, M., Hussain, S., & Mahmood, A. (2011). Examining a chain relationship of layoff survivors' role overload, work-life balance and their productivity.

 Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 3, 402-409.

 Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com/
- Malik, M., & Usman, A. (2011). Role overload, job satisfaction and their effect on layoff survivor's job retention and productivity. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 2, 427-440. Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com/
- Marks, M., & Mirvis, P. H. (2011). A framework for the human resources role in managing culture in mergers and acquisitions. *Human Resource Management*, 50, 859-877. doi:10.1002/hrm.20445

- Marques, T., Galende, J., Cruz, P., & Ferreira, M. P. (2014). Surviving downsizing and innovative behaviors: a matter of organizational commitment. *International Journal of Manpower*, 35, 930-955. doi:10.1108/IJM-03-2012-0049
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2011). *Designing qualitative research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 11(3), 1-19. Retrieved from http://www.qualitative-research.net
- Matovic, D., Koch, A. S., & Forgas, J. P. (2014). Can negative mood improve language understanding? Affective influences on the ability to detect ambiguous communication. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *52*, 44-49. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2013.12.003
- Mayoh, J., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013, September). Toward a conceptualization of mixed methods phenomenological research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*,
 7, 1-17. doi:10.1177/1558689813505358
- Mayton, S. M. (2011). Survivor coping. *OD Practitioner*, *43*, 42-47. Retrieved from http://www.odnetwork.org/
- McCarthy, A., Cleveland, J. N., Hunter, S., Darcy, C., & Grady, G. (2013). Employee work–life balance outcomes in Ireland: a multilevel investigation of supervisory support and perceived organizational support. *International Journal of Human Resource Management*, 24, 1257-1276. doi:10.1080/09585192.2012.709189

- McClean, E. J., Burris, E. R., & Detert, J. R. (2013). When does voice lead to exit? It depends on leadership. *Academy of Management Journal*, *56*, 525-548. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.0041
- McClellan, J. G. (2011). Reconsidering communication and the discursive politics of organizational change. *Journal of Change Management*, 11, 465-480. doi:10.1080/14697017.2011.630508
- McDermott, A. M., Conway, E., Rousseau, D. M., & Flood, P. C. (2013). Promoting effective psychological contracts through leadership: The missing link between HR strategy and performance. *Human Resource Management*, 52, 289-310. doi:10.1002/hrm.21529
- McDevitt, R., Giapponi, C., & Houston, D. M. (2013). Organizational downsizing during an economic crisis: Survivors' and victims' perspectives. *Organization Management Journal*, 10, 227-239. doi:10.1080/15416518.2013.859057
- McMullen, S. R., & Adobor, H. (2011). Bridge leadership: A case study of leadership in a bridging organization. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 32, 715-735. doi:10.1108/01437731111170012
- Metcalf, L., Hess, S. J., Danes, E. J., & Singh, J. (2012). A mixed-methods approach for designing market-driven packaging. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 15, 268-289. doi:10.1108/13522751211231987
- Mirabela, P. (2011). Business buzzwords: Rightsizing, downsizing, reengineering, delayering. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series*, 20, 146-152. Retrieved from http://anale.steconomiceuoradea.ro/en/

- Modrek, S., & Cullen, M. R. (2013). Job insecurity during recessions: Effects on survivors' work stress. *BMC Public Health*, *13*, 929. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-929
- Mone, E., Eisinger, C., Guggenheim, K., Price, B., & Stine, C. (2011). Performance management at the wheel: Driving employee engagement in organizations.

 **Journal of Business & Psychology, 26, 205-212. doi:10.1007/s10869-011-9222-9
- Montuori, A. (2013). Complexity and transdisciplinarity: Reflections on theory and practice. *World Futures: The Journal of Global Education*, 69, 200-230. doi:10.1080/02604027.2013.803349
- Morales, M., & Ladhari, R. (2011). Comparative cross-cultural service quality: An assessment of research methodology. *Journal of Service Management*, 22, 241-265. doi:10.1108/09564231111124244
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781412995658
- Muñoz-Bullón, F., & Sánchez-Bueno, M. J. (2011). Does downsizing improve organizational performance? An analysis of Spanish manufacturing firms.
 International Journal of Human Resource Management, 22, 2924-2945.
 doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.599955
- Muñoz-Bullón, F., & Sánchez-Bueno, M. J. (2014). Institutional determinants of downsizing. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 24, 111-128. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12017
- Murthy, V., & Guthrie, J. (2012). Management control of work-life balance. A narrative

- study of an Australian financial institution. *Journal of HRCA: Human Resource Costing & Accounting*, 16, 258-280. doi:10.1108/14013381211317248
- Nastase, M., Giuclea, M., & Bold, O. (2012). The impact of change management in organizations-a survey of methods and techniques for a successful change. *Review of International Comparative Management/Revista De Management Comparat International*, 13, 5-16. Retrieved from http://www.rmci.ase.ro/
- Neves, P., & Eisenberger, R. (2012). Management communication and employee performance: The contribution of perceived organizational support. *Human Performance*, 25, 452-464. doi:10.1080/08959285.2012.721834
- Nichols, W. T., & Erakovich, R. (2013). Authentic leadership and implicit theory: A normative form of leadership? *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 34, 182-195. doi:10.1108/01437731311321931
- Nirupama, N., & Etkin, D. (2012). Institutional perception and support in emergency management in Ontario, Canada. *Disaster Prevention and Management*, 21, 599-607. doi:10.1108/09653561211278725
- Norman, P. M., Butler, F. C., & Ranft, A. L. (2012, April). Resources matter: Examining the effects of resources on the state of firms following downsizing. *Journal of Management*, 39, 2009-2038. doi:10.1177/0149206312443560
- Noruzy, A., Dalfard, V. M., Azhdari, B., Nazari-Shirkouhi, S., & Rezazadeh, A. (2013).

 Relations between transformational leadership, organizational learning,

 knowledge management, organizational innovation, and organizational

 performance: An empirical investigation of manufacturing firms. *International*

- Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology, 64, 1073-1085. doi:10.1007/s00170-012-4038-y
- Olausson, S., Lindahl, B., & Ekebergh, M. (2013). A phenomenological study of experiences of being cared for in a critical care setting: The meanings of the patient room as a place of care. *Intensive & Critical Care Nursing*, 29, 234-243. doi:10.1016/j.iccn.2013.02.002
- Oleinik, A. (2011). Mixing quantitative and qualitative content analysis: Triangulation at work. *Quality & Quantity*, 45, 859-873. doi:10.1007/s11135-010-9399-4
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2013). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *13*, 190-197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- O'Toole, J. (1996). Leading change: The argument for values-based leadership. New York, NY: Ballantine Books.
- Pasamar, S., & Cabrera, R. V. (2013). Work-life balance under challenging financial and economic conditions. *International Journal of Manpower*, *34*, 961-974. doi:10.1108/IJM-07-2013-0172
- Patton, M. Q. (1990). *Qualitative evaluation and research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Petty, N. J., Thomson, O. P., & Stew, G. (2012). Ready for a paradigm shift? Part 2: Introducing qualitative research methodologies and methods. *Manual Therapy*, *17*, 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.math.2012.03.004
- Phelps, Y. (2013). Impact on survivors of downsizing: A generational comparison. The

- Business Review, Cambridge, 21(2), 53-59. Retrieved from http://www.jaabc.com/brc.html
- Phipps, S. T. A., Prieto, L. C., & Ndinguri, E. N. (2013). Understanding the impact of employee involvement on organizational productivity: The moderating role of organizational commitment. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communication*, and Conflict, 17, 107-120. Retrieve from http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=11
- Pirjol, F., & Maxim, R. (2012). Organizational culture and its way of expression within the organization. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series*, 21, 371-376. Retrieved from http://anale.steconomiceuoradea.ro/en/
- Pisarski, A., & Ashworth, P. (2013). The Citizen's Round Table process: Canvassing public opinion on energy technologies to mitigate climate change. *Climatic Change*, *119*, 533-546. doi:10.1007/s10584-013-0709-4
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., & Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *63*, 539-569. doi:10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452
- Poulis, K., Poulis, E., & Plakoyiannaki, E. (2013). The role of context in case study selection: An international business perspective. *International Business**Review*, 22, 304-314. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.04.003
- Prottas, D. (2013). Relationships among employee perception of their manager's behavioral integrity, moral distress, and employee attitudes and well-being.

- Journal of Business Ethics, 113(1), 51-60. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1280-z
- Puleo, G. (2011). Causes and maintenance factors of employee burnout during

 transformational organizational change (Doctoral dissertation). Available from

 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 899718923)
- Qu, S. Q., & Dumay, J. (2011). The qualitative research interview. *Qualitative Research* in Accounting and Management, 8, 238-264. doi:10.1108/11766091111162070
- Radley, A., & Chamberlain, K. (2012). The study of the case: Conceptualising case study research. *Journal of Community & Applied Social Psychology*, 22, 390–399. doi:10.1002/casp.1106
- Ramendran, C., Raman, G., Moona Haji Mohamed, R., Beleya, P., & Nodeson, S. (2013).

 Organizational flexibility and its implications on employee's productivity. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 4, 298-316.

 Retrieved from http://www.ijcrb.webs.com/
- Ratna, R., & Chawla, S. (2012). Key factors of retention and retention strategies in telecom sector. *Global Management Review*, 6(3), 35-46. Retrieved from http://www.sonamgmt.org/gmr.html
- Razzaq, A., Ayub, A., Arzu, F., & Aslam, M. (2013). The nexus between technological learning, downsizing, employee commitment, and organizational performance. *Business Management Dynamics*, 2(10), 74-80. Retrieved from http://www.bmdynamics.com/

- Rego, A., Sousa, F., Marques, C., & e Cunha, M. P. (2014). Hope and positive affect mediating the authentic leadership and creativity relationship. *Journal of Business Research*, 67, 200-210. doi 10.1016/j.jbusres.2012.10.003
- Rehman, S., & Muhammad, A. R. (2012). Gender and work-life balance: A phenomenological study of women entrepreneurs in Pakistan. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 19, 209-228. doi:10.1108/14626001211223865
- Reiter, S., Stewart, G., & Bruce, C. (2011). A strategy for delayed research method selection: Deciding between grounded theory and phenomenology. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 9(1), 35-46. Retrieved from http://www.ejbrm.com/main.html
- Rennie, D. L. (2012). Qualitative research as methodical hermeneutics. *Psychological Methods*, *17*, 385-398. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/met/
- Robertson, I. T., Alex, J. B., & Cooper, C. L. (2012). Job and work attitudes, engagement and employee performance. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 33, 224-232. doi:10.1108/01437731211216443
- Rosenberg, S., & Mosca, J. (2011). Breaking down the barriers to organizational change.

 *International Journal of Management and Information Systems, 15(3), 139-146.

 *Retrieved from http://journals.cluteonline.com/index.php/IJMIS
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Saeed, R., Arshad, M., Fareed, Z., Shahzad, F., & Lodhi, R. N. (2013). The effect of

- downsizing on survived employees' performance: A case of Pakistan. *Revista De Management Comparat International*, 14, 608-618. Retrieved from http://www.rmci.ase.ro
- Sanda, M. (2011). Using activity analysis to identify individual and group behavioral constraints to organizational change management. *Journal of Management and Sustainability*, *I*(1), 111-123. doi:10.5539/jms.v1n1p111
- Santos, A., Hayward, T., & Ramos, H. M. (2012). Organizational culture, work and personal goals as predictors of employee well-being. *Journal of Organizational Culture, Communication, and Conflict*, *16*(1), 25-48. Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=11
- Schmitt, A., Borzillo, S., & Probst, G. (2012). Don't let knowledge walk away:

 Knowledge retention during employee downsizing. *Management Learning*, 43,
 53-74. doi:10.1177/1350507611411630
- Schneider, K. S., & George, M. G. (2011). Servant leadership versus transformational leadership in voluntary service organizations. *Leadership & Organization*Development Journal, 32, 60-77. doi:10.1108/01437731111099283
- Scott, B. G., Ueng, J., Ramaswamy, V., & Chang, C. L. (2011). Layoff and firm long-term performance. *Academy of Strategic Management Journal*, *10*(2), 1-10.

 Retrieved from http://www.alliedacademies.org
- Senge, P. M. (1990). The fifth discipline: The art and practice of the learning organization. New York, NY: Currency.
- Shedlin, M. G., Decena, C. U., Mangadu, T., & Martinez, A. (2011). Research participant

- recruitment in Hispanic communities: Lessons learned. *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *13*, 352-360. doi:10.1007/s10903-009-9292-1
- Shin, J., Taylor, M., & Seo, M. (2012). Resources for change: The relationships of organizational inducements and psychological resilience to employees' attitudes and behaviors toward organizational change. *Academy of Management Journal*, 55, 727-748. doi:10.5465/amj.2010.0325
- Siggelkow, N. (2011). Firms as systems of independent choices. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48, 1126-1140. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2011.01010.x
- Singh, A. K., & Sharma, V. (2011). Knowledge management antecedents and its impact on employee satisfaction. *The Learning Organization*, 18, 115-130. doi:10.1108/09696471111103722
- Sitlington, H., & Marshall, V. (2011). Do downsizing decisions affect organisational knowledge and performance? *Management Decision*, 49, 116-129. doi:10.1108/00251741111094473
- Smith, M. J., Arthur, C. A., Hardy, J., Callow, N., & Williams, D. (2013).
 Transformational leadership and task cohesion in sport: The mediating role of intrateam communication. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 14, 249-257.
 doi:10.1016/j.psychsport.2012.10.002
- Smollan, R. (2011). Engaging with resistance to change. *University of Auckland Business**Review, 13, 12-15. Retrieved from http://www.uabr.auckland.ac.nz/
- Srivastava, A., Bartol, K., & Locke, E. A. (2006). Empowering leadership in management teams: Effects on knowledge sharing, efficacy, and performance.

- Academy of Management Journal, 49, 1239-1251. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2006.23478718
- Stewart, W. D., Shamdasani, N., P., & Rook, W. D. (2007). Recruiting focus group participants and designing the interview guide in focus groups. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781412991841.d22
- Stierand, M. B., & Dörfler, V. D. (2012). Reflecting on a phenomenological study of creativity and innovation in haute cuisine. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 24, 946-957. doi:10.1108/09596111211247254
- Stout, M. (2012). Toward a relational language of process. *Administrative Theory & Praxis*, 34(3), 407-432. Retrieved from http://www.researchgate.net/journal/1084-1806_Administrative_Theory_Praxis
- Syed, N., & Lin Xiao, Y. (2012). Impact of high performance human resource management practices on employee job satisfaction: Empirical analysis.

 Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business, 4, 318-342.

 Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com/
- Taborga, J. (2012). Leadership stage development and its effect on transformational change. *Integral Leadership Review*, 12(4), 1-20. Retrieved from http://integralleadershipreview.com/
- Thomas, E., & Magilvy, J. K. (2011). Qualitative rigor or research validity in qualitative research. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *16*, 151-155. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6155.2011.00283.x
- Thomas, G. (2011). A typology for the case study in social science following a review of

- definition, discourse, and structure. *Qualitative Inquiry*, *17*, 511-521. doi:10.1177/1077800411409884
- Todd, P., & Binns, J. (2013). Work–life balance: Is it now a problem for management?

 Gender, Work & Organization, 20, 219-231. doi:10.1111/j.14680432.2011.00564.x
- Tong, A., Chapman, J. R., Israni, A., Gordon, E. J., & Craig, J. C. (2013). Qualitative research in organ transplantation: Recent contributions to clinical care and policy. *American Journal of Transplantation*, 13, 1390-1399. doi:10.1111/ajt.12239
- Tonkin, T. H. (2013). Authentic versus transformational leadership: Assessing their Effectiveness on organizational citizenship behavior of followers. *International Journal of Business & Public Administration*, 10, 40-61. Retrieved from http://www.iabpad.com/IJBPA/
- Tsai, P. C. F., & Shih, C. T. (2013). Responsible downsizing strategy as a panacea to firm performance: The role of dynamic capabilities. *International Journal of Manpower*, *34*, 1015-1028. doi:10.1108/IJM-07-2013-0170
- Tsirikas, A. N., Katsaros, K. K., & Nicolaidis, C. S. (2012). Knowledge management, tolerance of ambiguity and productivity. *Employee Relations*, *34*, 344-359. doi:10.1108/01425451211236814
- Turner, D. (2010). Qualitative interview design: A practical guide for novice investigators. *Qualitative Report*, 15, 754-760. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu

- United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor and Statistics. (2014). Mass layoff statistics. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/mls/
- Unluer, S. (2012). Being an insider researcher while conducting case study research.

 *Qualitative Report, 17, 58. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/BackIssues/index.html
- Uprichard, E. (2011). 5 narratives of the future: Complexity, time and temporality. In M. Williams & W. Paul Vogt (Eds.), *The Sage handbook of innovation in social research methods* (pp. 103-120). London, England: Sage. doi:10.4135/9781446268261.n8
- Vaccaro, I. G., Jansen, J. J., Van Den Bosch, F. A., & Volberda, H. W. (2012).
 Management innovation and leadership: The moderating role of organizational size. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49(1), 28-51. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00976.x
- Vaismoradi, M., Turunen, H., & Bondas, T. (2013). Content analysis and thematic analysis: Implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, *15*, 398-405. doi:10.111/nhs.12048
- van Dierendonck, D., & Jacobs, G. (2012). Survivors and victims: A meta-analytical review of fairness and organizational commitment after downsizing. *British Journal of Management*, 23, 96-109. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8551.2010.00724.x
- van Dierendonck, D., & Nuijten, I. (2011). The servant leadership survey: Development and validation of a multidimensional measure. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 26, 249-267. doi:10.1007/s10869-010-9194-1

- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, *37*, 21-54. Retrieved from http://www.misq.org
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1972). The history and status of general systems theory. *Academy of Management Journal*, *15*, 407-426. doi:10.2307/255139
- von Krogh, G., Nonaka, I., & Rechsteiner, L. (2012). Leadership in organizational knowledge creation: A review and framework. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49(1), 240-277. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00978.x
- Walker, E., & McNamara, B. (2013). Relocating to retirement living: An occupational perspective on successful transitions. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 60, 445-453. doi:10.1111/1440-1630.12038
- Walsh, I. J., & Bartunek, J. M. (2011). Cheating the fates: Organizational foundings in the wake of demise. *Academy of Management Journal*, *54*, 1017-1044. doi:10.5465/amj.2008.0658
- Waraich, S. B., & Bhardwaj, G. (2012). Perception of workforce reduction scenario and coping strategies of survivors: An empirical study. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 19(3), 34-49. Retrieved from http://www.sajm-amdisa.org/
- Warrick, D. D. (2011). The urgent need for skilled transformational leaders: Integrating transformational leadership and organization development. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability & Ethics*, 8(5), 11-26. Retrieved from http://www.nabusinesspress.com/jlaeopen.html
- Wells, E. J., & Peachey, W. J. (2011). Turnover intentions: Do leadership behaviors and

- satisfaction with the leader matter? *Team Performance Management*, 17(1/2), 23-40. doi:10.1108/13527591111114693
- Wengraf, T. (2001). Qualitative research interviewing: Biographic narratives and semistructured methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Wester, K. L., Borders, L. D., Boul, S., & Horton, E. (2013). Research quality: Critique of quantitative articles in the journal of counseling and development. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 91, 280-290. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00096.x
- Westley, F., & Mintzberg, H. (1989). Visionary leadership and strategic management. Strategic Management Journal, 10(S1), 17-32. doi:10.1002/smj.425010070
- Wickramasinghe, V. (2012). Supervisor support as a moderator between work schedule flexibility and job stress: Some empirical evidence from Sri Lanka. *International Journal of Workplace Health Management*, 5(1), 44-55. doi:10.1108/17538351211215384
- Wiewiora, A., Trigunarsyah, B., Murphy, G., & Coffey, V. (2013). Organizational culture and willingness to share knowledge: A competing values perspective in Australian context. *International Journal of Project Management*, 31, 1163-1174.
- Wisdom, J. P., Cavaleri, M. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Green, C. A. (2012).

 Methodological reporting in qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods health services research articles. *Health Services Research*, 47, 721-745.

 doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344.x
- Witt, M. A., & Redding, G. (2013). Asian business systems: Institutional comparison,

- clusters and implications for varieties of capitalism and business systems theory. *Socio-Economic Review*, *11*(2), 265-300. doi:10.1093/ser/mwt002
- Woodard, F. (2012). A phenomenological study of spontaneous spiritual and paranormal experiences in a 21st century sample of normal people. *Psychological Reports*, 110, 73-132. doi:10.2466/02.09.PR0.110.1.73-132
- Xie, C., Wu, D., Luo, J., & Hu, X. (2012). A case study of multi-team communications in construction design under supply chain partnering. *Supply Chain Management*, 23, 63-70. doi:13596543468755444279
- Yawson, R. M. (2013). Systems theory and thinking as a foundational theory in human resource development: A myth or reality? *Human Resource Development*Review, 12, 53-85. doi:10.1177/1534484312461634
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods. (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.
- Zahrani, A. (2011). Psychological empowerment and workplace learning: An empirical study of Saudi Telecom Company. *European Journal of Economics, Finance & Administrative Sciences*, 42, 53-67. Retrieved from http://www.europeanjournalofeconomicsfinanceandadministrativesciences.com/
- Zatzick, C. D., & Iverson, R. D. (2006). High-involvement management and workforce reduction: Competitive advantage or disadvantage? *Academy of Management Journal*, 49, 999-1015. doi:10.5465/AMJ.2006.22798180
- Zivkovic, J. (2012). Strength and weaknesses of business research methodologies: Two disparate case studies. *Business Studies Journal*, 4(2), 91-99. Retrieved from

http://www.alliedacademies.org/public/journals/JournalDetails.aspx?jid=26

Zucker, D. M. (2009). *How to do case study research*. Amherst, MA: University of Massachusetts.

Appendix A: Interview Protocol for Business Leaders

Interview Protocol: Productivity of retained employees after a workforce reduction.

Time of Interview:

Date:

Interviewer:

Interviewee:

Position of Interviewee:

I will use a qualitative case study to research the phenomenon of downsizing, particularly the productivity of retained employees after a workforce reduction. The interviewees will consist of business leaders and managers that are responsible for making overall decisions on downsizing. The intent of the study is to create strategies business leaders can use to enable employees to be productive following a downsizing event.

Questions:

- 1. What were your experiences with downsizing relating to how your organization executed the process?
- 2. What type of communication did your organization use after the downsizing event?
- 3. How did your job functions change after the workforce reduction?
- 4. What was your work environment like as it relates to asking managers to do more work, stay later, and assuming varying roles after the downsizing event?
- 5. From your experience, please describe some activities you believe made managers more productive after a workforce reduction?

- 6. Post downsizing event how did you see your employees' job changing at work?
- 7. Please share anything else you would like to add to the discussion that I have not asked.

Appendix B: Interview Protocol for Managers

Interview Protocol: Productivity of retained employees after a workforce reduction.

Time of Interview:

Date:

Interviewer:

Interviewee:

Position of Interviewee:

I will use a qualitative case study to research the phenomenon of downsizing, particularly the productivity of retained employees after a workforce reduction. The interviewees will consist of business leaders and managers that are responsible for making decisions on downsizing. The intent of the study is to create strategies business leaders can use to enable employees to be productive following a downsizing event.

Questions:

- 1. What were your experiences with downsizing relating to how your organization executed the process?
- 2. What type of communication occurred between yourself and the business leader over your organization?
- 3. How did you decide job functions for the employees that reported to you after the workforce reduction?
- 4. What was your work environment like as it relates to doing more work, stay later, and assuming varying roles after the downsizing event?
- 5. Please share anything else you would like to add to the discussion that I have

not asked.

Appendix C: Consent Form for Business Leaders

Dear [Participants name],

Thank you for your interest in this study. The purpose of this study is to examine what makes employees productive after surviving a downsizing event. My name is Jason Matyus and I am currently a graduate student at Walden University in pursuit of a Doctorate of Business Administration (DBA), and I will also be the person conducting this research. The criteria for participating in this study are:

must have been employed in the telecom industry at the time of a downsizing event, must have survived the downsizing event and stayed employed with the telecom.

I will meet with you in person or on the phone to ensure you understand the study and so I can address any questions you may have pertaining to what is expected from you as the participant or from myself as the researcher. Prior to the interview I will provide the consent form as well as the interview questions in preparation for the interviews.

I will conduct an interview with you from the previously provided interview questions. I will be using a recording device to record the interviews. If a follow interview is required it will be agreed upon by both parties a reasonable time and place to conduct the follow up interviews.

At the end of the analysis of the interviews I will return the results to you for you viewing to determine accuracy of the interviews. The following information will provide information into how I will conduct the study:

- Participation in this study is voluntary. At any time if you would like to withdraw you can do so without recourse. In addition, if during the interview you do not want to answer a question or feel uncomfortable you are not obliged to answer the question.
- I am an operations manager with Windstream Communications. My role in the study is as the researcher and is separate from my role as operations manager.
- I will be using leadership positions at area manager level and higher to obtain participants for the case study. Soliciting participants outside of my work group will ensure I will minimize perceived coercion or bias.
- The interview will be approximately an hour to two hours.
- At any point you the participant can withdraw from the study and all data you as the participant provided will not be used in the final analysis. In addition, at no point will any answer you give hinder or stop any relationship professional or otherwise due to an answering or your participation in the study.
- I will organize my interview notes, data, and questions into categories before coding them. To protect your privacy, I will code your identity using an alphanumeric system to ensure your privacy as a participant.

There are potential risks or discomforts to your participation in this study. The risks include the time needed to participate in the interview and possible answering of uneasy questions.

The possible benefits associated with your participation in the study include giving your experience on downsizing and how you were affected by downsizing. The sharing of your experience on downsizing can allow for a better understanding of work-life balance and the effects of downsizing on productivity. There will be no compensation for participation in this study.

Any questions or information needed related to this study can be obtained by reaching me at Jason.matyus@waldenu.edu. If you have any questions pertaining to how the study was conducted or concerns with any part of the study please contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University by email at irb@waldenu.edu or by phone at (621) 312-1210.

If you need to reach me for comment or a copy of the study you can reach me at Jason.matyus@waldenu.edu

I will provide you with a 1-2 page summary of the study.

Please save or print a copy of this consent form for you records.

Consent to Participate:

I have read the above information and understand the expectations of me for the study and I understand the study well enough to participate freely. By replying by email with the words 'I consent' you are agreeing to participate and to the terms detailed above.

Appendix D: Organizational Consent Form for Focus Group

Dear [Participants name],

Thank you for your interest in this study. The purpose of this study is to examine what makes employees productive after surviving a downsizing event. My name is Jason Matyus and I am currently a graduate student at Walden University in pursuit of a Doctorate of Business Administration (DBA), and I will also be the person conducting this research. The criteria for participating in this study are:

must have been employed in the telecom industry at the time of a downsizing event, must have survived the downsizing event and stayed employed with the telecom.

I will meet with you in person along with the other members of the agreed upon focus group to ensure you understand the study and so I can address any questions you may have pertaining to what is expected from you as the participant in the focus group or from myself as the researcher. Prior to the interview I will provide the consent form as well as the interview questions in preparation for the interviews.

I will conduct an interview with you from the previously provided interview questions. I will be using a recording device to record the focus group interviews. If a follow up interview for the focus group is required it will be agreed upon by both parties a reasonable time and place to conduct the follow up focus group interviews.

At the end of the analysis of the interviews I will return the results to you for you viewing to determine accuracy of the interviews. The following information will provide information into how I will conduct the study:

Participation in this study is voluntary. At any time if you would like to withdraw you can do so without recourse. In addition, if during the interview you do not want to answer a question or feel uncomfortable you are not obliged to answer the question.

I am an operations manager with Windstream Communications. My role in the study is as the researcher and is separate from my role as operations manager.

I will be using manager level with employees that report to them to obtain participants for the case study. Soliciting participants outside of my work group will ensure I will minimize perceived coercion or bias.

The focus group interview will take approximately one to two hours.

- There is an expectation of privacy. I cannot control if somebody in the focus group discloses things that were said but it is my expectation that what is said in the focus group remains private.
- At any point you the participant can withdraw from the study and all data you as the participant provided will not be used in the final analysis. In addition, at no point will any answer you give hinder or stop any relationship professional or otherwise due to an answering or your participation in the study.
- I will organize my focus group interview notes, data, and questions into categories before coding them. To protect your privacy, I will code your identity using an alphanumeric system to ensure your privacy as a participant.
- There are potential risks or discomforts to your participation in this study. The risks include the time needed to participate in the focus group interview and possible answering of uneasy questions.
- The possible benefits associated with your participation in the study include giving your experience on downsizing and how you was affected by downsizing. The sharing of your experience on downsizing can allow for a better understanding of work-life balance and the effects of downsizing on productivity.

There will be no compensation for participation in this study.

Any questions or information needed related to this study can be obtained by reaching me at Jason.matyus@waldenu.edu. If you have any questions pertaining to how the study was conducted or concerns with any part of the study please contact the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University by email at irb@waldenu.edu or by phone at (621) 312-1210.

If you need to reach me for comment or a copy of the study you can reach me at Jason.matyus@waldenu.edu

I will provide you with a 1-2 page summary of the study.

Please save or print a copy of this consent form for you records.

Consent to Participate

I have read the above information and understand the expectations of me for the study and I understand the study well enough to participate freely. By replying by email with the words 'I consent' you are agreeing to participate and to the terms detailed above.

Appendix E: Organizational Letter of Cooperation

Letter of Cooperation

Contact Information

Date: 10/29/2014

Dear Jason Matyus,

Based on my review of your research proposal, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled Productivity of Retained Employees after a Workforce Reduction within the telecommunication industry. As part of this study, I authorize you to solicit business leaders and managers for participation, data collection through interviews, member checking activities. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: The time to participate in the study. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting and that this plan complies with the organization's policies.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the student's supervising faculty/staff without permission from the Walden University's Institutional Review Board.

Sincerely,

Walden University policy on electronic signatures: An electronic signature is just as valid as a written signature as long as both parties have agreed to conduct the transaction electronically. Electronic signatures are regulated by the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act. Electronic signatures are only valid when the signer is either (a) the sender of the email or (b) copied on the email containing the signed document. Legally an "electronic signature" can be the person's typed name, their email address, or any other identifying marker. Walden University staff verify any electronic signatures that do not originate from a password-protected source (i.e., an email address officially on file with Walden).